
 
 

CITY OF LAKE GENEVA 
626 GENEVA STREET 
LAKE GENEVA, WI 

 
PLAN COMMISSION MEETING 

MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 18, 2017 - 6:00 PM 
COUNCIL CHAMBERS, CITY HALL 

 
Agenda 

 
 1. Meeting called to order by Mayor Kupsik. 
 
 2. Roll Call. 
 
 3. Approve Minutes of the August 21st Plan Commission meeting as distributed. 

  
 4.  Comments from the public as allowed by Wis. Stats. §19.84(2), limited to items on this agenda, except for public 

hearing items.  Comments will be limited to five (5) minutes. 
 
 5. Acknowledgment of Correspondence.  
 
 6.  Downtown Design Review. 
 

A. Application by Ida Tarczinski, 727 Geneva Street, Lake Geneva, WI  53147, to replace the sign face 
of an existing monument sign at 727 Geneva Street, Ida’s Salon, Tax Key No. ZOP00157. 

 
7.   Public Hearing and Recommendation on a Conditional Use filed by Kevin Sychowski, 830 Clover Street,  
      Lake Geneva, WI 53147, to allow for the construction of an accessory structure of 1,950 square feet, at  
      830 Clover Street, Tax Key No. ZCL200008. 
 
8.   Public Hearing and Recommendation on a Conditional Use filed by Frank Klepitsch, 420 Sunrise Avenue,  
      Lake Bluff, IL 60044, on behalf of Francis Beidler III & Elizabeth Tisdahl, for SR-4 Setbacks in ER-1 Zoning District 
      to allow the addition of a new screened porch located at 698 S Lake Shore Drive, Tax Key No. ZBB00006. 
 
9.   A. Review and Recommendation of a Plat of Condominium for Prairie Townhome Condominium filed by McMurr I,  
           LLC, 351 W. Hubbard, Site 610, Chicago, IL  60654, to review the proposed development at  
           Tax Key No. ZPRW00054A. 
 
      B.  Public Hearing and Recommendation on an amendment to a Precise Implementation Plan filed by McMurr I, LLC, 
           351 W. Hubbard, Site 610, Chicago, IL  60654, to allow for the development of condominium/townhome units at  
           Tax Key No. ZPRW00054A. 
   
10. Review and Recommendation of Step 2 of the Concept Plan for the General Development Plan and Precise  
      Implementation Plan, filed by Steve Bieda, Mau & Associates, LLP, 400 Security Blvd, Green Bay, WI 54313, on  
      behalf of Himansu Dhyani, at l150 Wells Street, Tax Key No. ZYUP00142B. 
 
11. Adjournment 
 

 
 

QUORUM OF CITY COUNCIL MEMBERS MAY BE PRESENT 
Requests from persons with disabilities, who need assistance in order to participate in this meeting, should be made to the City Clerk's office, in order for appropriate accommodations. 

 Posted 9/13/2017 



1 of 7 
August 21, 2017 Plan Commission Minutes 
 

PLAN COMMISSION MEETING 
MONDAY, AUGUST 21, 2017 – 6:00 PM 
COUNCIL CHAMBERS, CITY HALL 
 
 
Building & Zoning Administrative Assistant Follensbee called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. 
 
Roll Call. Present: Alderman Doug Skates, John Gibbs, Sarah Hill, Ann Esarco, Tyler Frederick,Ted Horne.   
Absent (Excused): Mayor Kupsik, City Administrator Oborn.Also Present: City Planner Slavney,City Attorney Draper, 
Building and Zoning Administrator Walling, Building & Zoning Administrative Assistant Follensbee. 
 
Building & Zoning Administrative Assistant Follensbeeopened nominations foratemporary chairman as Mayor Kupsik 
was not there to chair the meeting. 
 
Esarco/Gibbs motion to nominate Alderman Skates as temporary chair. No other nominations were made. 
Motion carried 6 to 0.  Alderman Skates took a seat as the temporary chairman. 
 
Approve the Minutes of July 17, 2017 Plan Commission meeting as distributed. 
Horne/Frederick motion to approve.Motion carried6 to 0. 
 
Comments from the public as allowed by Wis. Stats. §19.84(2), limited to items on this agenda, except for public 
hearing items. Comments will to be limited to 5 minutes. 
 
Speaker 1: Karen Yancy, executive director of the Geneva Lake Conservancy. The Conservancy is concerned about the 
private recreation zoning requested by the developer, White River Holdings LLC, for the 60 acres of flood plain of the 
Hillmoor property in its proposed amendment request for the City of Lake Geneva’sComprehensive Plan. The 
Conservancy requests the zoning for the 60 acres of Hillmoor be amended to publicpark and open space zoning which 
allows for public recreational trails, parks, and public kayak &canoe launches and public natural or conservancy 
preservation areas. Reasons for rezoning: the land is Primary Environmental Corridor which is essential to the 
environmental health of the Lake Geneva area and its wildlife; this land should be designated as open space and restored 
to its environmental health by remove evasive species, stabilizing the stream banks and creating buffer zones to prevent 
polluted run-off into the river; the land should be managed to protect the adjacent land which has habitat for threatened 
species; the wetlands help with flood control & maintain quality of groundwater. If zoned as publicpark and open space, 
this property would have opportunities to receive federal, state and local grants. 
 
Speaker 2: Dan Getzen, 500 S. Edwards Blvd, Unit #2, in favor of the Center Street North property to be kept as a green 
space to be used as a park with hiking and biking trails, asking for the support of the Plan Commission. 
 
Speaker 3: Karen Mohar, 308 Maxwell Street, in full support of the Center Street North property to be used as a park with 
multi-use trails and hopes for the City’s support. 
 
Speaker 4: Alice Ogden - 108 Evelyn Lane, Unit D, Golfview Condo Association, lives in a lower unit on the west side of 
the former property of Hillmoor. She is concerned about the water run-off from the higher elevation south of Hwy 50. The 
proposed plans will flatten the terrain and remove most trees which could cause flooding. The proposed plans do not 
include a retention pond. Ogden asks the city and developer to consider this issue. 
 
Speaker 5: Barbara Philips, 1600 Evergreen Lane, supports the Center Street North properties, making this property into a 
park and trails. 
 
Speaker 6: Jaclyn Getzen, 15 Lakeview Drive, in support of the Center Street park, needing to preserve all the green space 
we can for future generations. 
 
Speaker 7: Andy Kerwin, 1616 Evergreen Lane, in favor of the Center Street park, believing it is a great multi-use trail 
and park area and asks for the City’s support. 



2 of 7 
August 21, 2017 Plan Commission Minutes 
 

 
Speaker 8: Mary Jo Fesenmaier, 1085 S Lake Shore Drive, read city mission statement, addressed agenda item 15.b. 
Geneva Inn,opposes annexation of the Geneva Inn and the proposedcomprehensive plan changeforzoning. On Agenda 
Item 15.c. Hillmoor, she opposes the proposed plan change, referencing the comprehensive plan work done to keep it 
rural holding and open space, prior to this request.Fesenmaier spoke about needing community projects in this property: 
The YMCA, Library, big community use projects which fit in with tourism. 
 
Speaker 9: Jeff Leonard, 1504 Dodge Street, agenda item 15.d. Delaney Street Mercantile – request to change the Future 
Land Use designation, corner of Cook St and Main St, zoned as Planned Development and would like to change zoning to 
Central Business.  
 
Speaker 10: Beverly Leonard,1504 Dodge Street, agreed with her husband regarding the change for item 15.d. Leonard 
also referenced agenda item 11. United Methodist Church - CUP, a public hearing item, and read her letter to 
cityregarding this item. 
 
Speaker 11: Dick Malmin, N1991 S Lake Shore Dr, Town of Linn, a neighbor of the Geneva Inn, agenda item 
15.b.Geneva Inn - Future Land Use change. He gave a history of the Geneva Inn property, sharing his opposition to the 
proposed Future Land Use and zoning change. Malmin referenced the extra territorial zoning process and questioned this 
process for the Geneva Inn. 
 
Speaker 12: Maureen Marks, 834 Dodge Street, agenda item 15.b. Geneva Inn proposed Future Land Use change, opposes 
the zoning change for the Geneva Inn, stating she owned commercially zoned properties in Lake Geneva and never 
received special rights for owning these properties so the Geneva Inn should not have a special rule regarding request. 
 
Acknowledgement of Correspondence. 
Correspondence was received from Beverly Leonard regarding a Conditional Use request to allow paid parking on the 
property of the United Methodist Church at 912 Geneva Street. Correspondence was received from Charlene Klein, 
opposing the Comprehensive Plan changes for the Hillmoor property. Correspondence was also received from J. 
Tschetter, opposing the rezoning of the Hillmoor property. 
 
Review and Recommendation of approval for a CSM, filed by Robert E. Krawisz, 806 Pine Tree Lane, Lake 
Geneva, WI 53147, to clarify the property lot line identification for 806 Pine Tree Lane, Tax Key No. ZSY00028. 
Robert Krawisz, 806 Pine Tree Lane, presented his request forclarification of the property lot line due to the 
mistake the title company made recording the site. 
 
Esarco/Frederick motion to approve the request for a lot line clarification as recorded in the property CSM. 
Roll Call:  Skates, Gibbs, Hill, Esarco, Frederick, Horne voting “yes.”  Motion carried 6 to 0. 
 
Review and Recommendation of an Extraterritorial Jurisdiction (ETJ) CSM Lot Division in the Town of Geneva 
filed  by Mark Larkin, 500 Stone Ridge Drive, Lake Geneva, WI  53147, to divide 12 acre parcel into 4 lots in the 
Town of Geneva, Tax Key No. JG25 00004. 
Mark Larkin, 500 Stone Ridge Drive, presented his request to divide a 12 acre parcel into 4 lots. Building and Zoning 
Administrator Walling, stated they will also create a cul-de-sac as part of the request. Walling spoke about the City of 
Lake Geneva’s standards for turn-a-round diameters in cul-de-sacs and road width as a future reference for possible 
annexation of this property. Planner Slavney said the CSM meets all the ETJ requirements and recommends approval. 
 
Horne/Hill motion to approve ETJ CSM to divide a 12 acre parcel into 4 lots. 
Roll Call:  Skates, Gibbs, Hill, Esarco, Frederick, Horne voting “yes.”  Motion carried 6 to 0. 
 
 
 
 
 
 



3 of 7 
August 21, 2017 Plan Commission Minutes 
 

 
Downtown Design Review 

Application by Hans Melges, 1100 Edwards Blvd, Lake Geneva, WI  53147, for a sign at 233 Center Street, Tax 
Key No. ZOP00284. 
Building and Zoning Administrator Walling referenced the slide for this project on the screen, pointing out one sign 
facing Starbucks was denied because it did not have a street side. After speaking with Mr. Melges, Walling established a 
plan B, allowing the sign to be placed on the alley side of this property which is an approved location for a sign. Melges 
distributed hard copies of the new artwork located on the north side of the building. 
Hans Melges, 1100 Edwards Blvd, presented his request of a sign at 233 Center Street, showing samples of the sign 
materials and colors to be used in this project as well as the sign locations.Commissioner Hill asked Walling for the 
ordinance regarding sign location. Walling stated all signage shall be on a street frontage of the building which includes 
alleys. 
 
Esarco/Gibbs motion to approve sign locations on the west and north side of the building. 
Roll Call:  Skates, Gibbs, Hill, Esarco, Frederick, Horne voting “yes.”  Motion carried6 to 0. 
 
Application by Linda Stevenson, 411 S Pearl St, Janesville, WI  53548, on behalf of Harley Davidson, for replacing 
an awning and signage at 704A Main Street, Tax Key No. ZOP00307. 
Building & Zoning Administrator Walling stated the applicant was unable to be at this meeting. Walling met with Ms. 
Stevenson and verifies the awning and decal for the Haley Davidson store do fall within the guidelines for size, location 
and building signagefor Downtown Design. Walling stated the Harley Davidson corporate colors are copyrighted and the 
sign colors are therefore acceptable. 
 
Hill/Horne motion to approve and include all staff recommendations. 
Roll Call:  Skates, Gibbs, Hill, Esarco, Frederick, Horne voting “yes.”  Motion carried 6 to 0. 
 
Public Hearing and Recommendation on a Conditional Use filed by Kevin Sychowski, 830 Clover Street, Lake 
Geneva, WI 53147, to allow for the construction of an accessory structure of 1,950 square feet, at 830 Clover 
Street, Tax Key No. ZCL200008. 
Kevin Sychowski, 830 Clover Street, presented his request for a Conditional Use Permit, to allow a larger garage on his 
lot and handed out additional hard copies at this meeting. He has taken downa smaller garage on property since it was 
unsafe. Sychowski proposed a garage larger than 1000 square feet for his boat, moving trailer and cars to keep them out of 
sight and out of the weather. Properties to the west and to the northhave a tree line which would block most of their view 
of the garage. Sychowski wants to add elements to the exterior so it doesn’t look like a garage. He will abide by the height 
restrictions of the city ordinances. Planner Slavney said the plans submitted are consistent with the statements presented. 
 
Speaker 1: Nathan Nelson, 835 Clover Street, supports this garage project and believes it will bring value to the 
neighborhood. 
Speaker 2: Matt Mergener, 826 Clover Street, built a garage on 804 and 806 Clover Street property and had to follow the 
code restrictions. Mergener opposes the proposed garage because his windows face the location of this structure and he 
doesn’t want to see this big building. 
Speaker 3: Nick Staggs, 1237 Pleasant Street, concerned this allowance would lead to more light industrial development 
in the neighborhood. Staggs hopes the garage will look nice and fits the aesthetics of the residential neighborhood. 
Speaker 4: Cindy Flower, 533 Haskin Street, is interested in seeing the architectural renderings of this garage which was 
not found in the online packet. Flower would like to see the plans to see what the building will look and check the 
setbacks. Planner Slavney described the drawings submitted at the meeting& Building & Zoning Administrator Walling 
added he asked Mr. Sychowski to get site renderings from an architect and received them in time for this meeting which 
will be available for the public. 
Speaker 5: Bob Ott, 827 Clover St, understands the need for a garage but is concerned about the size and placement of 
garage which seems to be out of scale with the lot and existing home.  
 
Hill/Horne motion to close the public hearing.  Motion carried 6 to 0. 
 
 



4 of 7 
August 21, 2017 Plan Commission Minutes 
 

Commissioner Hill reviewed the process to build an accessory structure & asked Building & Zoning Administrator 
Walling about specifics in this process. Walling stated any structure larger than 1000 square feet requires a Conditional 
Use Permit. Commissioner Horne suggested the structure could use more architectural details so it looks like an extension 
of the home instead of an industrial garage.  
 
Skates/Hornemade a motion to continue this hearing to the next Plan Commission meeting to give neighbors and the Plan 
Commission a chance to see in detail what this structure looks like beyond Mr. Synchowski’s description and last minute 
drawings. Motion carried 6 to 0. 
 
Public Hearing and Recommendation on a Conditional Use filed by Larry Kundert, N1279 White Pigeon Road,  
Lake Geneva, WI 53147, on behalf of United Methodist Church, to allow for a paid onsite parking lot located at  
Lake Geneva United Methodist Church at 912 Geneva Street, Tax Key No. ZA464800001. 
Terry Smith, N2982 Marshall Lane,Youth Director for United Methodist Church, presented request for a Conditional Use 
to allow for fundraising and an onsite paid parking lotwith the Youth Group at different city events throughout the year. 
Commissioner Hill asked specifics about their fundraiser. Ms. Smith said the church used a Temporary Use permit to 
offer all day parking over the 4th of July at $20/space which was used mostly by elderly or young families who needed a 
convenient place to park after other city parking options were filled.Hill asked how much the church plans to charge in the 
future. Alderman Skates stated the City cannot determine the amount to be charged for parking. Hill asked for the original 
intent of building a parking lot at the church. Smith stated the intent was to provide a convenient way for their 
congregation to park, since the street parking was not available during their worship services. Hill questioned the 
continued need of the two - 15 minute parking stalls. Ms. Smith said those spots are used during the busy morning drop-
off for the daycare & Montessori school located in their church.Mr. Kundertcommented that since it is a busy area, these 
extra parking spaces allow for a safer drop-off of the children. 
 
Speaker 1: Beverly Leonard, 1504 Dodge Street, not opposed to the use of their parking lot, but maybe the church could 
communicate with the merchants that this parking is for a fundraiser for their Youth Group. Leonard requested a lesser 
charge per space. 
Speaker 2: James Wilson, 1120 Park Row, concerned this request to allow paid parking could open thedoor for others to 
charge for parking on their property.He supports the congregation using the lot but not for the use of making money. 
Speaker 3: Maureen Marks, 834 Dodge Street, supports the use of the two spaces in front of the church for the drop-off 
and pick-up of daycare & the Montessori school children.Marks doesn’t think the church is trying to make money as a 
parking lot.  
 
Hill/Skates motion to close the public hearing.  Motion carried 6 to 0. 
 
Commissioner Hill questioned the need for the additional 2 spaces on the street with the newly paved surface parking lot 
and showed concern for their request to charge for parking whenever they wanted throughout the year. Hill was also 
uneasy about the City not being able to set the charge rate. Alderman Skates shared the example of the PTO at Central 
Denison which does fundraiser a few times year, allowing people to park on the school property. The terms of temporary 
use permits was also discussed. Planner Slavney stated a Conditional Use Permit gives the city the ability to limit the 
number of times per year or the types of community events which can be named in the CUP. Skates added the Conditional 
Use can be pulled if there are any infractions to this permit. Commissioner Esarco asked if the CUP can state the specific 
events for this use and Alderman Skates verified it could.  
 
Skates/Hornemotion to approve the Conditional Use to allow a paid onsite parking lotand staff recommendations to 
approve the affirmative findings, parking is limited to only the marked spaces and limited to 5 eventsof your choosing. 
Skates/Horne amended the motion to read “limited to 5 events with each event not to exceed 4 days.” 
 
Commissioner Hill asked if the church could do car washes, rummage sales or other fundraisers with this CUP application 
and Attorney Draper said this CUP would deny that part of it because of the conditions set for this Conditional Use; 
therefore they could not do the car washes, etc. Commissioner Horne asked if they could apply for a Temporary Use 
Permit for the items mentioned by Hill and Walling verified the church could apply but it is up to the discretion of the 
City to grant it. 
 
Roll Call:  Skates, Gibbs, Esarco, Frederick, Horne voting “yes” and Hill voting “no.” Motion carried 5 to 1. 



5 of 7 
August 21, 2017 Plan Commission Minutes 
 

 
 
Public Hearing and Recommendation on a Conditional Use for a new residence, filed by John & Susan   
Gullicksen, 1096 LaGrange Road, WI 53147, for SR-4 Setbacks in ER-1 Zoning District, at 1096 LaGrange     
Road, Tax Key No. ZLE00001. 
Todd Kaufmann, Lowell Custom Homes, representing the Gullicksen’s, requesting to tear down the house and build a 
new home in the ER-1 Zoning District with SR-4 Setbacks. Building and Zoning Administrator Walling stated according 
to the site plan, the home will not get any closer to the lake or the sideyard setbacks than the existing home. They have 
identified the maximum height allowances of 35’ and have met all the requirements: size and setbacks for SR-4 Zoning 
classification with the allowance of the CUP from the ER-1 Zoning. 
Speaker 1: Cindy Flower, 533 Haskin Street, requests our city engineer to review the steep contours along the side yards 
on the grading plan. She asked if retaining walls would be used.  She said clarification is needed. 
 
Hill/Horne motion to close the public hearing.  Motion carried 6 to 0. 
Building and Zoning Administrator Walling said the engineering concerns will be addressed during the construction and 
contractor will have to maintain waters and erosion during construction and after the ground is stabilized so watershed 
does not go onto the neighboring properties. 
 
Horne/Frederick motion to approve and include staff recommendations and fact finding including item 3 which states that 
the location of all approved building setbacks be verified by an onsite inspection by the Building Administrator prior to 
pouring the building foundation walls. 
 
Roll Call:  Skates, Gibbs, Hill, Esarco, Frederick, Horne voting “yes.”  Motion carried 6 to 0. 
 
Public Hearing and Recommendation on an Amendment to a Precise Implementation Plan, filed by Bill Henry, 
Kehoe-Henry & Associates, Inc., 25 North Wisconsin Street, Elkhorn, WI 53121, on behalf of Geneva Lake 
Christian Church, to amend the development details for an Indoor Institutional land use, a worship facility, at the 
SE corner of Bloomfield Rd. & Harmony Dr., Tax Key Nos. ZSF00231 & ZSF00232. 
Bill Henry, architect & engineer, and Pastor Chris Law, on behalf of the Geneva Lakes Christian Church, for an 
amendment to a PIP, to move the church building and parking lot closer to Harmony Drive. The driveway is shorter but is 
still in compliance with the 75’ stacking area per the ordinance. All other features of the application are the same. 
Alderman Skates verified the past approvals to date and the shifting of the church and parking lot. Henry said the parking 
lot was reconfigured with 10 additional stalls on north side of lot in the future. 
Speaker 1: Cindy Flower, 533 Haskin Street, asked if the shifting of the church and parking lot was for a potential future 
expansion. Planner Slavney said there is room for expansion on this site but any plans would have to come back to the 
Plan Commission for review and approval. 
 
Skates/Horne motion to close the public hearing.  Motion carried 6 to 0. 
 
Esarco/Horne motion to approve and with staff recommendations. 
Roll Call:  Skates, Gibbs,Hill, Esarco, Frederick, Horne voting “yes.”  Motion carried 6 to 0. 
 
Discussion/Recommendation on Designation of the City’s Center Street north properties, Tax Key No. ZSR00169 
at approximately 43 acres and ZSR00170 at approximately 2 acres, as a City Park and Trail (Recommended by the 
Park Board on June 28, 2017) 
Planner Slavney stated this discussion takes place at this meeting because the Plan Commission makes recommendations 
to the Common Council any time a public park is being considered for improvement. This land was platted with the intent 
to be public open space land and now details have been presented to the Park Board, who has endorsed this idea. 
Commissioner Hill asked for clarification on the Plan Commissions advisory role in this process. Slavneyidentified the 
Plan Commission special awareness of city’s plans which the Council may not be aware of. Attorney Draper said the Plan 
Commission has an advisory role because it deals with the development within the city: the master plan, the park plan, 
passes resolutions for the city, alwaysinvolved with the building and development within the city. The Plan Commission 
is the perfect entity to discuss and give direction to the Council along with the Park Board. 



6 of 7 
August 21, 2017 Plan Commission Minutes 
 

Alderman Skates gave a history of this property and believes the development of this park would be beneficial to many 
but access is questionable at this time so the city wants to make it an official park. Draper said it is a way to let people 
know what’s going on with the property in the city. 
Esarco/Gibbs motion that the city designates the City’s Center Street North properties as a City Park and Trail as 
recommended the Park Board on June 28, 2017. 
 
Roll Call:  Skates, Gibbs, Hill, Esarco, Frederick, Horne voting “yes.”  Motion carried 6 to 0. 
 
Plan Commission Reviews the Comprehensive Plan Amendment Applications. 
 
City Planner Slavney explained the Comprehensive Plan Amendment process. Every year the City opens up the 
Comprehensive Plan to property owners to request modifications to the Future Land Use Map, which is the Land Use Plan 
for the City. During the months of July and August, applicants are welcome to explain their proposed amendments to the 
Plan Commission and the public. It allows the Plan Commission to discuss items informally and no motions are taken. 
This step is in preparation of a Public Hearing held in front of the Plan Commission & Common Council in October. 
 
The city received four changes to the Future Land Use Map which recommends the future land use pattern. The 
Comprehensive Planning law says any proposed zoning map amendment has to be consistent with this particular map. 
 

A. Core Commercial Inc., PO Box 1154, Appleton, WI  54912 for property near Edwards Blvd & Geneva 
Parkway North with Tax Key Nos. ZGEC00001, ZGEC00001A and ZGEC00002. 
 
Application proposes the property near Edwards Blvd & Geneva Parkway Northon Highway 120, south of Wal-
mart, to change the designation from Business Park Land Use to Planned Business which allows a broader range 
of retail, personal and professional uses. 
 
Kim Pischke, Core Commercial, presented their request, stating they will exclude the corner piece of the property 
which is the Keefe office building. A new CSM will be created combing the portion of this parcel along with the 
other 2 parcels. Pischke believes this property will lend itself to retail so they are requesting the Planned Business 
Land Use. 
 

B. Geneva Waterfront Inc., N2009 S Lake Shore Drive, Lake Geneva, WI  53147 and Bigfoot Holdings LLC 
(dta Geneva Inn) for Tax Key Nos. IL120000-5C, IL120000-5C2, IL120000-5D, IL120000-5E, IL120000-5F 
and IL120000-4. 

 
Application proposes the property of Geneva Inn which is outside of the city limits on both the east and west side 
of South Lake Shore Drive. The Geneva Inn has several properties and the areas currently in use are for 
Commercial Use and are shown as the Planned Business category on the Lake Geneva Future Land Use Map. 
However there are several portions of the properties which are shown as Agricultural or Rural. Owners beyond 
the city limits have a right to request a change and the applicant is asking for the Agricultural & Rural sections to 
be changed to Planned Business so all Geneva Inn properties are shown as Planned Business category. 
 
Richard Torhorst, attorney representing Geneva Waterfront Inc. & 7 Bigfoot Holdings, LLC, requesting Planned 
Business Land Use for the entire property. Torhorst handed out a map showing most of the property is in Planned 
Business except the south west corner being used as a parking lot, single family dwelling and a garage. Future 
plans consists of building a banquet wedding facility on the property east of the Geneva Inn which presently are 2 
older residential structures which have been converted into apartments. 
Commissioner Hill referenced the parcels which are out of the city limits. Planner Slavney said the city has the 
right to make plan recommendations 1 ½ miles from its city limits. There is an Extra Territorial Planning Area 
that is allowed by state law to go 1 ½ miles inside towns. We cannot plan inside the limits of another village or 
city. Attorney Draper explained if someone wants to change the zoning, the first step is to change the 
Comprehensive Plan. 
 
 
 



7 of 7 
August 21, 2017 Plan Commission Minutes 
 

 
 
 

C. White River Holdings LLC, 11 East Madison, Suite L-100, Chicago, IL 60602 for former Hillmoor Golf 
property on Tax Key Nos. ZYUP00001C, ZOP00001, ZYUP00131 and ZYUP00153. 
 
Application proposes to change the current designation in the future land use map from Private Recreation 
Facilities to Planned MixedUse in the central portion of the Hillmoor property, from Private Recreation to Two 
Family Residential in south western part of property. The northern part of the property, flood plain, is to remain in 
Private Recreation Facilities, with a narrow strip along Highway 50 proposed to remain as a buffer along the 
corridor. 
 
Paul Fitzpatrick, 314 North Sheffield, Chicago, IL, representing 11 East Partners, requesting to leave the northern 
portion as Private Recreation, requesting a change in the two southern portions of property from Private 
Recreation to Planed Mixed use and Two Family Residential. 
Planner Slavney referenced the comment from the Geneva Lake Conservancy regarding the northern portion of 
the property: restoring the habitat, removing evasive species, adding stream buffers and stabilizing the steam 
banks, which Slavney thought were good ideas and asked if they would be open to these changes. Fitzpatrick said 
they would consider it. 

 
D. Jeffrey & Beverly Leonard, 1504 Dodge Street, Lake Geneva, WI  53147 for 905 Main Street, Lake 

Geneva, WI for Tax Key No. ZOP00243A. 
 
The current category for 905 Main Street is Neighborhood Mixed Use which is a business category designed for 
small scale buildings, often a home which has been converted for business uses. Their request is to change to the 
Central Business Land Use which allows downtown type buildings with a zero front yard or street yard setback 
and can be built right up to the sidewalk. 

 
 Jeffrey Leonard, request for a Central Business Land Use designation which would enable them to apply for a 
 zoning change in the future if desired so they can continue to thrive and contribute to the community. 
 

Planner Slavney stated the state requires an extra long public notice period for any amendment to the 
Comprehensive Plan. At the end of this month the City will set the Public Hearing for Mid October and all 
applications will be frozen on August 28th where no other modifications are allowed. 

 
Adjournment. Esarco/Horne motion to adjourn at 8:30 pm. Motion carried 6 to 0. 
 
 
        
/s/ Brenda Follensbee, Building & Zoning Administrative Assistant 
 

THESE ARE NOT OFFICIAL MINUTES UNTIL APPROVED BY THE PLAN COMMISSION 



 1 

STAFF REPORT 
To Lake Geneva Plan Commission 
Meeting Date:  February 20, 2017 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Applicant:      
Ida Tarczinski      727 Geneva Street 

Request: 

       Downtown Design Review 
       Change to Signage 
   
 
 

The applicant is submitting an application for Downtown Design Review to replace the sign face of an 
existing monument sign. 

Description: 

 
The property is subject to Downtown Design review. The City reviews all signs in the Downtown to 
confirm that they conform to the Downtown Design standards; particularly quantity, size, and color 
requirements. In the Plan Commission Packet, the applicant has provided the renditions of the 
previously exiting sign from her past location prior to relocating at 727 Geneva Street.  
 
The Monument sign is located at the northeast corner of Broad Street and Geneva Street, the multi 
business monument sign will allow for the installation as proposed per zoning code section 98-913.  
 

The proposed sign does meet the requirements of the Downtown Design Overlay Zoning district. Staff’s 
recommendation is the proposed sign be approved as submitted. 

Staff Recommendation: 

Agenda Item #6 







830 Clover Lane CUP - Page 1 of 3 
 

STAFF REPORT 
To Lake Geneva Plan Commission 
Meeting Date:  September 18, 2017 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

The applicant is submitting a Conditional Use Permit (CUP) request to allow for the construction of an 
accessory structure of 1,950 square feet. The current zoning code maximum allowance for a residential 
accessory structure is 1,000 square feet without the need to be granted a CUP as found in section         
98-206(8)(c): 

Description: Additional Materials submitted per Plan Commission request from the August meeting 

1. Permitted by Right {All Districts, if under 1,000 sq. ft.}  
a. One (1) attached or detached garage.  
b. A total of three (3) accessory structures  

2. Conditional Use Regulations: a. In excess of 1,000 sq feet for the combination of all accessory 
structures and for more than three accessory structures requires the issuance of a Conditional Use 
Permit. 

 

The property located at 830 Clover Lane is a fairly sizable lot of just over ½ acre which allows the room 
necessary for this request. 

The property is abutted to the north by duplex rental units about where this proposed structure will be 
located provide approval is granted. The neighbor directly next door is a single family residence, and to 
the west approximately 400’ through a very vegetative rear lot so this property will not be impacted. 

 

 The property is zoned Single Family – 4 (SR-4) and will meet all other setbacks and regulations for that 
zoning classification to include the maximum height allowed of 15’ to the mean elevation for the roof. 
 

Recommendation to the Common Council on the proposed Conditional Use Permit (CUP): 
Action by the Plan Commission: 

As part of the consideration of the requested CUP, the Plan Commission is required to: 

• Provide the Common Council with a recommendation regarding the proposed CUP; 
• Include findings required by the Zoning Ordinance for CUPs; and, 

Applicant
Kevin Sychowski 

: 

830 Clover Lane 
Lake Geneva, WI 53147 

Request
830 Clover Lane, Lake Geneva, WI 53147 

: 

Proposed Conditional Use Permit to exceed  
Accessory Structure limits of 1000 Sqft to build 
at 1950 sq ft 

Agenda Item #7 



830 Clover Lane CUP - Page 2 of 3 
 

• Provide specific suggested requirements to modify the project as submitted. 
 

The property is a generously large residential property with ample room to allow for the installation, and 
no impacts to neighbors are anticipated.  

Staff Review Comments: 

 

A proposed CUP must be reviewed by the standards, below: 

Required Plan Commission Findings on the CUP for Recommendation to the Common Council: 

A. If, after the public hearing, the Commission wishes to recommend approval, then the appropriate 
fact finding would be all of the following: 

1.  In general, the proposed conditional use is in harmony

2.  Specific to this site, the proposed conditional use 

 with the purposes, goals, objectives, 
policies and standards of the City's Comprehensive Plan, Zoning Ordinance, and any other plan, 
program, or ordinance adopted, or under consideration pursuant to official notice by the City. 

is in harmony

3.  The proposed conditional use in its proposed location, and as depicted on the required site plan 

 with the purposes, goals, 
objectives, policies and standards of the City's Comprehensive Plan, Zoning Ordinance, and any 
other plan, program, or ordinance adopted, or under consideration pursuant to official notice by 
the City. 

does not result

4.  The proposed conditional use 

 in a substantial or undue adverse impact on nearby property, the character of the 
neighborhood, environmental factors, traffic factors, parking, public improvements, public 
property or rights-of-way, or other matters affecting the public health, safety, or general welfare, 
either as they now exist or as they may in the future be developed as a result of the 
implementation of the provisions of the Zoning Ordinance, the Comprehensive Plan or any other 
plan, program, map, or ordinance adopted or under consideration pursuant to official notice by the 
City or other governmental agency having jurisdiction to guide development. 

maintains

5.  The proposed conditional use 

 the desired consistency of land uses, land use intensities, 
and land use impacts as related to the environs of the subject property. 

is located in an area

6.  The potential public benefits of the proposed conditional use 

 that will be adequately served by, and will not 
impose an undue burden on any improvements, facilities, utilities or services provided by public 
agencies serving the subject property. 

outweigh

B. If, after the public hearing, the Commission wishes to recommend denial, then the appropriate fact 
finding would be 

 all potential adverse 
impacts of the proposed conditional use after taking into consideration the Applicant’s proposal 
and any requirements recommended by the Applicant to ameliorate such impacts. 

one or more

1.  In general, the proposed conditional use 

 of the following: 

is not in harmony

2.  Specific to this site, the proposed conditional use 

 with the purposes, goals, objectives, 
policies and standards of the City's Comprehensive Plan, Zoning Ordinance, and any other plan, 
program, or ordinance adopted, or under consideration pursuant to official notice by the City. 

is not in harmony with the purposes, goals, 
objectives, policies and standards of the City's Comprehensive Plan, Zoning Ordinance, and any 



830 Clover Lane CUP - Page 3 of 3 
 

other plan, program, or ordinance adopted, or under consideration pursuant to official notice by 
the City. 

3.  The proposed conditional use in its proposed location, and as depicted on the required site plan 
does result

4.  The proposed conditional use 

 in a substantial or undue adverse impact on nearby property, the character of the 
neighborhood, environmental factors, traffic factors, parking, public improvements, public 
property or rights-of-way, or other matters affecting the public health, safety, or general welfare, 
either as they now exist or as they may in the future be developed as a result of the 
implementation of the provisions of the Zoning Ordinance, the Comprehensive Plan or any other 
plan, program, map, or ordinance adopted or under consideration pursuant to official notice by the 
City or other governmental agency having jurisdiction to guide development. 

does not maintain

5.  The proposed conditional use 

 the desired consistency of land uses, land use 
intensities, and land use impacts as related to the environs of the subject property. 

is not located in an area

6.  The potential public benefits of the proposed conditional use 

 that will be adequately served by, and will 
impose an undue burden on any of the improvements, facilities, utilities or services provided by 
public agencies serving the subject property. 

do not outweigh

 

 all potential 
adverse impacts of the proposed conditional use after taking into consideration the Applicant’s 
proposal and any requirements recommended by the Applicant to ameliorate such impacts. 

1. Staff recommends that the Plan Commission recommend approval of the proposed conditional 
use as submitted, with the findings under A.1-6., above. 

Staff Recommendation on the Proposed Conditional Use Permit: 

2. Staff recommends the Plan Commission adopt the affirmative set of findings provided above. 
3. Staff recommends that the following conditions be attached: 

a. The proposed accessory structure location be approved as submitted as identified on the 
survey. 

b. The accessory structure when constructed does not exceed the allow building heights as 
permitted in the SR- 4 zoning code of 15 feet mean elevation height. 



















 1 

STAFF REPORT 
To Lake Geneva Plan Commission 

Meeting Date:  June 19, 2017 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

The applicant is submitting a proposal for a Conditional Use Permit (CUP) for a new residence for the 
property located at 698 South Lake Shore Drive. The project would include the addition of an 
approximately 527 square foot sunroom structure attached to the recently renovated home. The 
applicants have carefully designed the proposed residence to maintain building setbacks, including the 
recent renovations to the home. 

Description: 

 
The proposed sunroom addition will compliment the structure and in most cases will not even be visible 
from the South Shore Drive roadway do the addition location. 
 

The proposed project submittal meets or exceeds all requirements of the Zoning Ordinance. 

Project Details from CUP Submittal 

 

Proposed Site Plans :( Sheet A-1) (dated 08/1/2017 respectively) 
The Site Plan demonstrates that the proposed home maintains all existing setback distances provided by 
the existing home. The proposed home provides the following setback measurements: 
 

Required in SR-4 Existing Home
Min Street Yard Setback 25 feet   28 feet to front of home  

   

Min Rear Yard Setback 30 feet to home 43.33 feet to home   
 

Report on the Conditional Use Permit for 698 South Shore Drive continues on the next page. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item #8 

Applicant: 
Francis Beidler III & Elizabeth Tisdahl 
53 W. Jackson Blvd. Suite 530  
Chicago IL 60604 

Request: 
698 South Lake Shore Drive 
Conditional Use Permit 
SR-4 Setbacks in ER-1 Zoning District 



 2 

Recommendation to the Common Council on the proposed Conditional Use Permit (CUP): 
Action by the Plan Commission: 

As part of the consideration of the requested CUP, the Plan Commission is required to: 
• Provide the Common Council with a recommendation regarding the proposed CUP; 
• Include findings required by the Zoning Ordinance for CUPs; and, 
• Provide specific suggested requirements to modify the project as submitted. 

 

The proposed conditional use includes all existing setbacks provided on all four sides of the proposed 
home. The proposed maximum height of the home, at about 24 feet, is more than ten feet lower than the 
permitted height of the zoning district. 

Staff Review Comments: 

 

A proposed CUP must be reviewed by the standards, below: 

Required Plan Commission Findings on the CUP for Recommendation to the Common Council: 

A. If, after the public hearing, the Commission wishes to recommend approval, then the appropriate 
fact finding would be all
a. In general, the proposed conditional use 

 of the following: 
is in harmony

b. Specific to this site, the proposed conditional use 

 with the purposes, goals, objectives, 
policies and standards of the City's Comprehensive Plan, Zoning Ordinance, and any other plan, 
program, or ordinance adopted, or under consideration pursuant to official notice by the City. 

is in harmony

c. The proposed conditional use in its proposed location, and as depicted on the required site plan 

 with the purposes, goals, 
objectives, policies and standards of the City's Comprehensive Plan, Zoning Ordinance, and any 
other plan, program, or ordinance adopted, or under consideration pursuant to official notice by 
the City. 

does not result

d. The proposed conditional use 

 in a substantial or undue adverse impact on nearby property, the character of the 
neighborhood, environmental factors, traffic factors, parking, public improvements, public 
property or rights-of-way, or other matters affecting the public health, safety, or general welfare, 
either as they now exist or as they may in the future be developed as a result of the 
implementation of the provisions of the Zoning Ordinance, the Comprehensive Plan or any 
other plan, program, map, or ordinance adopted or under consideration pursuant to official 
notice by the City or other governmental agency having jurisdiction to guide development. 

maintains

e. The proposed conditional use 

 the desired consistency of land uses, land use 
intensities, and land use impacts as related to the environs of the subject property. 

is located in an area

f. The potential public benefits of the proposed conditional use 

 that will be adequately served by, and will 
not impose an undue burden on any improvements, facilities, utilities or services provided by 
public agencies serving the subject property. 

outweigh

 

 all potential adverse 
impacts of the proposed conditional use after taking into consideration the Applicant’s proposal 
and any requirements recommended by the Applicant to ameliorate such impacts. 

B. If, after the public hearing, the Commission wishes to recommend denial, then the appropriate fact 
finding would be one or more of the following: 



 3 

a. In general, the proposed conditional use is not in harmony

b. Specific to this site, the proposed conditional use 

 with the purposes, goals, objectives, 
policies and standards of the City's Comprehensive Plan, Zoning Ordinance, and any other plan, 
program, or ordinance adopted, or under consideration pursuant to official notice by the City. 

is not in harmony

c. The proposed conditional use in its proposed location, and as depicted on the required site plan 

 with the purposes, goals, 
objectives, policies and standards of the City's Comprehensive Plan, Zoning Ordinance, and any 
other plan, program, or ordinance adopted, or under consideration pursuant to official notice by 
the City. 

does result

d. The proposed conditional use 

 in a substantial or undue adverse impact on nearby property, the character of the 
neighborhood, environmental factors, traffic factors, parking, public improvements, public 
property or rights-of-way, or other matters affecting the public health, safety, or general welfare, 
either as they now exist or as they may in the future be developed as a result of the 
implementation of the provisions of the Zoning Ordinance, the Comprehensive Plan or any 
other plan, program, map, or ordinance adopted or under consideration pursuant to official 
notice by the City or other governmental agency having jurisdiction to guide development. 

does not maintain

e. The proposed conditional use 

 the desired consistency of land uses, land use 
intensities, and land use impacts as related to the environs of the subject property. 

is not located in an area

f. The potential public benefits of the proposed conditional use 

 that will be adequately served by, and 
will impose an undue burden on any of the improvements, facilities, utilities or services 
provided by public agencies serving the subject property. 

do not outweigh

 

 all potential 
adverse impacts of the proposed conditional use after taking into consideration the Applicant’s 
proposal and any requirements recommended by the Applicant to ameliorate such impacts. 

1. Staff recommends that the Plan Commission recommend approval of the proposed conditional 
use as submitted, with the findings under A.1-6., above. 

Staff Recommendation on the proposed Conditional Use Permit: 

2. Staff recommends the Plan Commission adopt the affirmative set of findings provided above, 
noting that the proposal is a fully consistent with the setback requirements of the SR-4 zoning 
district, and results in the same setbacks on all four sides of the building over the current home. 

3. Finally, staff recommends that the following additional condition of approval be attached to the 
approval: 

a. That the location of all approved building setbacks be verified by an on-site inspection by 
the Building Administrator prior to pouring building foundation walls. 

 





























 1 

STAFF REPORT 
To Lake Geneva Plan Commission 
Meeting Date: September 18, 2017 

 
 
 
 
 
Applicant:      
McMurr I LLC     Subdivision Plat – Plat of Condominium 

Request: 

351 W Hubbard Suite 610      
Chicago IL 60654      
 

Subdivision Plat – Plat of Condominium - site plan review 
Description: 

The applicant is looking to generate a Subdivision Plat which would identify the property independently 
from the original subdivision to construct 6 condominium buildings on the tax parcel ZPRW 00054A.  
 
The proposal was submitted with the understanding the original development several years before was 
not completed as agreed upon due to economic reasons. Therefore the deadlines have expired from the 
original developer’s agreements, and to continue with the continuance of construction for the 
development the applicants have submitted the request before you as a new Subdivision Plat – Plat of 
Condominium.  
 

a. The new subdivision plat identifies a reduction in units per acre within the narrative of the 
second amendment to the Precise Implementation Plan (PIP) which will be the following agenda 
item after this Subdivision Plat review. 

 

The Plan Commission, in its consideration of the submitted complete application, shall take into account 
the basic intent of the Zoning Ordinance to ensure attractive, efficient, and appropriate development of 
land in the community, and to ensure particularly that every reasonable step has been taken to avoid 
depreciating effects on surrounding property and the natural environment. Beyond protection of the 
public health, safety and welfare, this shall enable the Plan Commission to consider factors related to 
community aesthetics, urban design, and architectural consistency within the community. The Plan 
Commission, in reviewing the application may require such additional measures and/or modifications to 
any or all elements of the site plan as described in the application submittal required per Section, as it 
deems necessary to accomplish this objective. 

Action by the Plan Commission: 

 

With the continuance of the proposed development and with the reduction of units per acre staff’s 
recommendation would be to move forward on the development of the Subdivision Plat – Plat of 
Condominium - site plan review 

Staff Review Comments: 

 
 

 

 

Agenda Item: 9a 



 2 

If, after the public hearing, the Commission wishes to recommend approval, then the appropriate fact 
finding would be for all of the following: 

Required Plan Commission Findings on the Subdivision Plat for Recommendation to the Common 
Council: 

1. All standards of the Zoning Ordinance and other applicable City, State and Federal 
regulations are met; 

2. The public health and safety is not endangered; 
3. Adequate public facilities and utilities are provided;  
4. Adequate control of storm water and erosion are provided and the disruption of existing 

topography, drainage patterns, and vegetative cover is maintained insofar as is practical; 
5. Appropriate traffic control and parking are provided; 
6. Appropriate landscaping and open space areas are provided; 
7. The appearance of structures maintains a consistency of design, materials, colors, and 

arrangement with nearby properties of similar use, which comply with the general 
architectural guidelines provided in subsections i. through v., below:  

a. Exterior construction materials shall be consistent with Section 98-718;  
b. Exterior building design or appearance shall not be of such unorthodox or abnormal 
character in relation to its surroundings as to be unsightly or offensive to generally 
accepted taste and community standards;  
c. Exterior building design or appearance shall not be so identical with nearby buildings 
so as to create excessive monotony or drabness. A minimum of five basic home styles 
shall be provided in each residential subdivision;  
d. Exterior building design or appearance shall not be constructed or faced with an 
exterior material which is aesthetically incompatible with other nearby buildings or 
which presents an unattractive appearance to the public and from surrounding properties; 
and  
e. Exterior building, sign, and lighting design or appearance shall not be sited on the 
property in a manner which would unnecessarily destroy or substantially damage the 
natural beauty of the area. 
 

1. Staff recommends that the Plan Commission recommends approval of the Subdivision Plat as 
submitted. 

Staff Recommendation on the proposed Subdivision Plat: 

2. Staff recommends the affirmative set of findings provided above, noting that the proposal is 
consistent with the Comprehensive Plan’s Future Land Use Map which allows for mixed use 
development; proposes no changes to existing development intensity and bulk characteristics; 
and will be complementary to surrounding land uses. 



















 

STAFF REPORT 
To Lake Geneva Plan Commission 
Meeting Date: September 18, 2017 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

The applicant is submitting a Precise Implementation Plan (PIP) to amend an existing Planned 
Development for a Condominium development located at tax parcel ZPRW 00054A which is in the 
vicinity of Southwind Drive and Townline Rd.  

Description: 

 
This development was originally started when economic development prevented the full construction of 
the original development. Therefore, the application to amend the PIP has been submitted by the 
applicant. 

a. A Subdivision Plat – Plat of Condominium was before the Plan Commission as item 9a. to 
allow for the division of tax parcel ZPRW 00054A and the continuance to complete 
development of the buildings. 

 
The surrounding area is zoned Planned Development (PD). The site is planned for Planned 
Neighborhood in the Comprehensive Plan. 

No changes are proposed to the site plan or building exterior other than the reduction in units per acre.  

Because this site is zoned as a Planned Development, a change of land use or land division involves 
review and approval of a Precise Implementation Plan (PIP) amendment.  

The PIP focuses primarily on the detailed physical characteristics of the site such as the precise locations 
of all development, landscaping, parking, and building materials. It also allows for flexibilities from the 
zoning ordinance relating to site plan components. This report focuses on these issues. 

All Planned Developments must explicitly identify any flexibilities being requested from base zoning 
standards in the most comparable regular zoning district. In this instance, the Planned Development 
(PD) zoning district, a prevalent zoning district in the surrounding area, provides that comparison zoning 
district. As no changes are proposed to the site that would change the existing site plan, no flexibilities 
are requested. 

Relation to Base Zoning Standards: 

 
 
 

Applicant
McMurr I LLC. 

: 

351 W. Hubbard Suite 610 
Chicago IL 60654 

Request
Amendment to a Precise Implementation Plan 
(PIP) 

: 

tax parcel ZPRW 00054A 
Prairie Townhomes Condominiums 

Agenda Item #9b 



 

Recommendation to the Common Council on the proposed Precise Implementation Plan (PIP): 
Action by the Plan Commission: 

As part of the consideration of the requested Planned Development / Precise Implementation Plan step, 
the Plan Commission is required to: 

• Provide the Common Council with a recommendation regarding the proposed PIP; 
• Include findings required by the Zoning Ordinance for PIPs; and, 
• Provide specific suggested requirements to modify the project as submitted. 

 

Staff believes that this is a suitable request for an amendment to the land use due to the surrounding 
commercial land uses and zoning. The site is planned for Planned Neighborhood in the Comprehensive 
Plan.  

Staff Review Comments: 

The applicant is reminded that future changes to the site plan or on-site operational characteristics will 
likely require an amendment to the approved GPD and/or PIP. Staff recommends approving the request 
to amend the PIP. 
 

A proposed PIP must be reviewed by the standards, below: 

Required Plan Commission Findings on the PIP for Recommendation to the Common Council: 

A. If, after the public hearing, the Commission wishes to recommend approval, then the appropriate 
fact finding would be for all of the following: 

1. In general, the proposed PIP is in harmony

2.  Specific to this site, the proposed PIP 

 with the purposes, goals, objectives, policies and 
standards of the City's Comprehensive Plan, Zoning Ordinance, and any other plan, program, or 
ordinance adopted, or under consideration pursuant to official notice by the City. 

is in harmony

3.  The proposed PIP in its proposed location, and as depicted on the required site plan 

 with the purposes, goals, objectives, policies 
and standards of the City's Comprehensive Plan, Zoning Ordinance, and any other plan, program, 
or ordinance adopted, or under consideration pursuant to official notice by the City. 

does not 
result

4.  The proposed PIP 

 in a substantial or undue adverse impact on nearby property, the character of the 
neighborhood, environmental factors, traffic factors, parking, public improvements, public 
property or rights-of-way, or other matters affecting the public health, safety, or general welfare, 
either as they now exist or as they may in the future be developed as a result of the 
implementation of the provisions of the Zoning Ordinance, the Comprehensive Plan or any other 
plan, program, map, or ordinance adopted or under consideration pursuant to official notice by the 
City or other governmental agency having jurisdiction to guide development. 

maintains

5.  The proposed PIP 

 the desired consistency of land uses, land use intensities, and land 
use impacts as related to the environs of the subject property. 

is located in an area

6.  The potential public benefits of the proposed PIP 

 that will be adequately served by, and will not impose an 
undue burden on any of the improvements, facilities, utilities or services provided by public 
agencies serving the subject property. 

outweigh all potential adverse impacts of the 
proposed conditional use after taking into consideration the Applicant’s proposal and any 
requirements recommended by the Applicant to ameliorate such impacts. 



 

 

1. Staff recommends that the Plan Commission recommends approval of the PIP as submitted. 

Staff Recommendation on the proposed Precise Implementation Plan: 

2. Staff recommends the affirmative set of findings provided above, noting that the proposal is 
consistent with the Comprehensive Plan’s Future Land Use Map which proposes that the only 
change is the reduction of units per acre to existing development intensity and bulk 
characteristics; and will be complementary to surrounding land uses. 



1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PRAIRIE TOWNHOME CONDOMINIUM 
 

SECOND AMENDMENT TO  
PRECISE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN (PIP) 

 
Applicant: McMurr I, LLC, 

an Illinois limited liability company 
 

July 31, 2017 
 
  



APPLICATION FOR PRECISE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN AMENDMENT 
City of Lake Geneva 

Name and Address of Current Owner: 

Telephone No. of Current Owner including area code:   

Name and Address of Applicant: 

Telephone No. of Applicant including area code:  

Proposed Use: 

Zoning District in which land is located: ___________________________________________________     

Names and Addresses of architect, professional engineer and contractor of project: 

Short statement describing activities to take place on site: 

PIP Amendment fee $400.00, payable upon filing application. 

     _____________________________________________ 
   Signature of Applicant 

Site Address/Parcel No. and full Legal Description required (attach separate sheet if necessary): 

Portion of Prairie Wind Townhome Condominium development, Townline Road.  See attached 
Exhibit B incorporated herein for legal description.

McMurr I, LLC, 351 W. Hubbard, Suite 610, Chicago, IL 60654, Attn: Murray S. Peretz 

312-527-3600 x 1

Same as Owner

See Project Narrative attached as Exhibit A hereto and incorporated herein. 

PD , Planned Development, Precise Implementation Plan

Warren Hansen, FARRIS, HANSEN & ASSOCIATES, INC., 7 West Ridgway, Elkhorn, WI  53121
262-723-2098

See Exhibit A, Project Narrative.

McMurr I, LLC, an Illinois limited liability company



APPLICATION SUBMITTAL REQUIREMENTS 
PD STEP 4: PRECISE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN (PIP) 

Prior to submitting the 25 complete applications as certified by the Zoning Administrator, the 
Applicant shall submit 5 initial draft application packets for staff review, followed by one revised draft 
final application packet based upon staff review and comments. 

Initial Packet (5 Copies to Zoning Administrator) Date: ________ by: _____ 
     Draft Final Packet (1 Copy to Zoning Administrator) Date: ________ by: _____ 

 
____ ____ A. After the effective date of the rezoning to PD/GDP, the Applicant may file an 

application for the proposed PIP with the Plan Commission.  This submittal 
packet shall contain the following items, prior to its acceptance by the Zoning 
Administrator and placing the item on the Plan Commission agenda for PIP 
review. 

____ (1) A location map of the subject property and its vicinity at 11" x 17", as 
depicted on a copy of the City of Lake Geneva Land Use Plan Map; 

____ (2) A map of the subject property for which the PD is proposed: 
____Showing all lands within 300 feet of the boundaries of the subject 

property; 
____Referenced to a list of the names and addresses of the owners of 

all lands on said map as the same appear on the current records 
of the Register of Deeds of Walworth County (as provided by 
the City of Lake Geneva); 

____ Clearly indicating the current zoning of the subject property and 
its environs, and the jurisdiction(s) which maintains that 
control;  

____ Map and all its parts clearly reproducible with a photocopier; 
____Map size of 11" by 17" and map scale not less than one inch 

equals 800 feet; 
____All lot dimensions of the subject property provided; 
____Graphic scale and north arrow provided. 

____ (3) A general written description of proposed PIP including: 
____Specific project themes and images; 
____The specific mix of dwelling unit types and/or land uses; 
____Specific residential densities and non-residential intensities as 

described by dwelling units per acre, floor area ratio and 
impervious surface area ratio; 

____The specific treatment of natural features; 
____ The specific relationship to nearby properties and public streets. 
____ A Statement of Rationale as to why PD zoning is proposed 

identifying perceived barriers in the form of requirements of 
standard zoning districts and opportunities for community 
betterment through the proposed PD zoning. 

____ A complete list of zoning standards which will not be met by the 
proposed PIP and the location(s) in which they apply and a 
complete list of zoning standards which will be more than met 
by the proposed PIP and the location(s) in which they apply 
shall be identified.  Essentially, the purpose of this listing shall 

See Group Exhibit  C

See Group Exhibit D

See Exhibit A, Narrative



be to provide the Plan Commission with information necessary 
to determine the relative merits of the project in regard to 
private benefit versus public benefit, and in regard to the 
mitigation of potential adverse impacts created by design 
flexibility. 

____ (4)A Precise Implementation Plan Drawing at a minimum scale of 1"=100' 
(and reduced to 11" x 17") of the proposed project showing at least the 
following information in sufficient detail: (See following page) 
____ A PIP site plan conforming to all requirements of Section 98-

908(3). If the proposed PD is a group development (per 
Section 98-208) also provide a proposed preliminary plat or 
conceptual plat; 

____ Location of recreational and open space areas and facilities 
specifically describing those that are to be reserved or 
dedicated for public acquisition and use; 

____Statistical data on minimum lot sizes in the development, the 
precise areas of all development lots and pads, 
density/intensity of various parts of the development, floor 
area ratio, impervious surface area ratio and landscape surface 
area ratio of various land uses, expected staging, and any other 
plans required by the Plan Commission or City Council; and 

____ Notations relating the written information (3), above to specific 
areas on the GDP Drawing. 

____ (5)A landscaping plan for subject property, specifying the location, species, 
and installed size of all trees and shrubs.  Include a chart which 
provides a cumulative total for each species, type and required location 
(foundation, yard, street, paved area or bufferyard) of all trees and 
shrubs. 

____ (6)A series of building elevations for the entire exterior of all buildings in 
the PD, including detailed notes as to the materials and colors 
proposed. 

____ (7)A general signage plan including all project identification signs, concepts 
for public fixtures and signs (such as street light fixtures and/or poles 
or street sign faces and/or poles), and group development signage 
themes which are proposed to vary from City standards or common 
practices. 

____ (8)A general outline of the intended organizational structure for a 
property owners association, if any; deed restrictions and provisions 
for private provision of common services, if any. 

____ (9)A written description which demonstrates the full consistency of the 
proposed PIP with the approved GDP. 

____ (10)A written description of any and all variations between the requirements 
of the applicable PD/GDP zoning district and the proposed PIP 
development; and, 

See Exhibit A, 
Narrative, and 
Group Exhibit C



____ (11)Proof of financing capability pertaining to construction and 
maintenance and operation of public works elements of the proposed 
development. 

FINAL APPLICATION PACKET INFORMATION 
PD STEP 4: PRECISE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN (PIP) 

The process for review and approval of the PD shall be identical to that for conditional use permits 
per Section 98-905 of the Zoning Ordinance and (if land is to be divided) to that for preliminary and 
final plats of subdivision per the Municipal Code.  All portions of an approved PD/PIP not fully 
developed within five years of final City Council approval shall expire, and no additional PD-based 
development shall be permitted.  The City Council may extend this five years period by up to five 
additional years via a majority vote following a public hearing. 

____ Receipt of 5 full scale copies in blueline or blackline 
of complete Final Application Packet by Zoning Administrator: Date: ________ by: _____ 

____ Receipt of 25 reduced (8.5" by 11" text and 11" x 17" graphics) 
copies of complete Final Application Packet by Zoning Administrator: Date: ________ by: _____ 

____ Certification of complete Final Application Packet and 
required copies to the Zoning Administrator by City Clerk: Date: ________ by: _____ 

____ Class 2 Legal Notice sent to official newspaper by City Clerk: Date: ________ by: _____ 

____ Class 2 Legal Notice published on _______________ and _______________ by: _____ 



2 
 

PRAIRIE TOWNHOME CONDOMINIUM  
EXHIBIT A 

PIP SECOND AMENDMENT - NARRATIVE 
 
 
  The property described in the attached Exhibit B incorporated herein  (“Prairie 
Townhomes”) and the adjoining Prairie Wind Townhomes Condominium development 
(collectively, “Prairie Wind”) are zoned by the City of Lake Geneva (“City”) as PD, Planned 
Development Zoning District, as amended, to permit the development of a condominium/ 
townhome community of up to sixteen (16) residential structures, each structure composed of 
five (5) condominium/townhome units (“Five Unit Building”) or six (6) condominium/ 
townhome units (“Six Unit Building”), with each unit containing up to four (4)  bedrooms, two 
(2) baths, and an attached garage.  To date, one (1) Five Unit Building and nine (9) Six Unit 
Buildings, containing a total of fifty-nine (59) condominium/townhome units, have been 
constructed in Prairie Wind Townhomes Condominium.  Up to thirty-six (36) additional 
condominium/townhome units, in a mix of five (5) Five Unit Buildings or Six Unit Buildings, 
are permitted under the General Development Plan (“GDP”) and the Precise Implementation 
Plan (“PIP”) for Prairie Wind.   
 
  The owner of the partially-developed Prairie Townhomes, McMurr I, LLC, an 
Illinois limited liability company (“McMurr I”), with the approval of the City, has amended the 
PIP, on April 28, 2014, extending the PIP through April 30, 2019, under the First Amendment to 
the PIP (“First Amendment”).   
 
  All of the public improvements sufficient to serve up to ninety-five (95) 
condominium/townhome units in Prairie Wind, i.e., the sanitary sewer mains and the municipal 
water mains, have been constructed and installed, and the City has accepted them for public 
dedication.  Additionally, the private storm water management facilities and the private streets of 
Prairie Wind, i.e., Park Place, Prairie Lane, and a street connecting them, have all been designed, 
sized, and over one-half (½) have been installed to accommodate up to ninety-five (95) 
condominium/townhome units.  Further, under the First Amendment, Prairie Lane has been 
approved for extension to intersect with Town Line Road, initially as a construction road, and 
then as a finished, permanent private road (“Prairie Lane Extension”).   
 
  McMurr I is the Successor Declarant to the Declarant of the condominium/ 
townhomes of Prairie Wind.  However, the ten (10) year period during which condominium/ 
townhome units could be added to the Prairie Wind Townhomes Condominium as expansion 
units under the Wisconsin Condominium Ownership Act has expired.  Consequently, 
concurrently herewith, McMurr I is filing with the City an Application for Land Division for 
approval of a Declaration and Plat of Condominium for Prairie Townhome Condominium on 
Prairie Townhomes, to add up to thirty-one (31) condominium/townhome units, in five (5) Five 
Unit Buildings and one (1) Six Unit Building, resulting in up to ninety (90) 
condominium/townhome units in Prairie Wind.   
 



3 
 

  McMurr I proposes the following architectural amendments under this Second 
Amendment to PIP (“Second Amendment”) for the five (5) Five Unit Buildings and one (1) Six 
Unit Building that may be constructed in Prairie Townhomes: 
 
  1. The Five Unit Buildings and the Six Unit Building may be constructed on 
concrete slabs, without basements.   
 
  2.  The condominium units of the Five Unit Buildings and the Six Unit 
Building shall each be equipped with a fire sprinkler system and constructed with standard two 
(2) hour firewalls between the attached condominium units. 
 
  3. The side of a unit’s rear deck to the side of the adjacent unit’s rear deck 
for the Five Unit Buildings and the Six Unit Building shall be not less than twelve (12) feet, with 
a minimum side yard of six (6) feet. 
 
  McMurr I proposes the following flexibilities under this Second Amendment, in 
response to changes requested by the City: 
 
  1. The City has requested the public dedication of a strip of land 15 feet wide 
to the north boundary of the public right-of-way for Townline Road.  McMurr I will dedicate 
land 15 feet by 171.20 feet immediately to the east of the right-of-way for the Prairie Lane 
Extension (“Dedication Parcel”) immediately before the recording of the Prairie Townhome 
Condominium declaration and plat of condominium (minus the Dedication Parcel).  The 
dedication instrument will be substantially in the form of the attached Right-of-Way Dedication 
incorporated herein as Exhibit C, subject to the approval of the City. 
 
   The public dedication of the right-of-way for the Prairie Lane Extension is 
a problem, however.  In 2014, when adding a Five-Unit Building to Prairie Wind, McMurr I 
made all of the right-of-way for the Prairie Lane Extension to its intersection with Townline 
Road part of the common elements of Prairie Wind Townhomes Condominium, including the 
south 15 feet of Prairie Lane, a strip of land 15 feet by 47.74 feet (“Strip”).    
 
              To publicly dedicate the Strip to the City would necessitate the removal of 
the Strip from the common elements of Prairie Wind Townhomes Condominium under § 703.28 
of the Wisconsin Condominium Ownership Act, requiring the written consent of all of the Prairie 
Wind Townhomes Condominium unit owners and all of their mortgage lenders, an extremely 
difficult task.  Further, there is no need to remove and dedicate the Strip, because any easement 
to use the Strip not already granted to the City could be granted by the board of directors of 
Prairie Wind Townhomes Condominium Association, Inc.   
 
  2. The south wall of Future Building # 3 on the plans submitted herewith is 
approximately 153.5 feet from the right-of-way for Prairie Lane.  Under some interpretations of 
the state fire code, if such distance exceeds 150 feet, a 90 foot-diameter cul-de-sac must be built 
at the end of the private driveway and parking area serving Future Building # 3.   There is not 
sufficient land in Prairie Townhomes next to Future Building # 3 to fit such a cul-de-sac. 
 



4 
 

   McMurr I requests flexibility to keep Future Building # 3 in its planned 
location.  The locations of the Five Unit Buildings and the Six Unit Buildings have been set and 
approved by the City by the original PIP.  In reliance on such locations, the building pads for 
these buildings have been improved with municipal water and sanitary sewer laterals and other 
utility services, with the approval of the City.  While the Five Unit Buildings and the Six Unit 
Buildings have been redesigned, their footprints have not been changed.  Their footprints still 
match those of the buildings originally approved under the PIP, primarily to use the building 
pads as and where they have been constructed.  To move Future Building # 3 from the building 
pad location originally approved by the City a distance of about 3.5 feet would entail 
considerable additional construction expense, while resulting in no significant improvement in 
the City’s fire fighting abilities at Prairie Townhomes.   
 
  3. The City has suggested that the fire hydrant constructed between Future 
Building #s 4 and 6, near the center of the cul-de-sac for the private driveway and parking area 
serving such buildings, be moved to the edge of the cul-de-sac.   
 
   McMurr I requests flexibility to leave the fire hydrant in its location, 
because it has been designed, located, approved and constructed in its location by the City’s prior 
Engineer, Crispell-Snyder, Inc.  McMurr I’s engineer states that to move the hydrant would cost 
in excess of Ten Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($10,000.00), with little benefit, and perhaps 
detriment, moving it from its central location between Future Building #s 4 and 6.  McMurr I 
proposes to install protective structures around the fire hydrant, to protect it from snow plows 
and trucks using the cul-de-sac.   
 
  The Prairie Townhome Condominium Site, Grading, Drainage and Erosion 
Control Plan, North, South, East and West Building Elevations, First and Second Floor Plans, 
Foundation Plan, Door/Window Schedules – Wall Types – Building Section, and Building 
Sections are attached as Group Exhibit D and incorporated herein.  
 
  In Section 5.05 of the Declaration of Condominium for Prairie Wind Townhomes 
Condominium and in each amendment thereto, McMurr or its predecessors in title have reserved 
easements of access and use over the private roads, public and private utilities, and the other 
infrastructure of Prairie Wind Townhomes Condominium.  McMurr proposes a cross-easement 
agreement between Prairie Wind Townhomes Condominium Association, Inc., and the 
condominium association of Prairie Townhome Condominium, to share the cost of maintaining, 
repairing and replacing the private roads, including, without limitation, the Prairie Lane 
Extension, the public and private utilities, and the other infrastructure of Prairie Wind used by 
all.   
 
  Overall density of Prairie Wind will be reduced from approximately 5.85 dwelling 
units per acre to not less than approximately 5.48 dwelling units per acre.  A reduction of six (6) 
condominium/townhome units will not materially affect the viability of the Prairie Wind 
community.   
 
  A map of Prairie Wind, showing all lands within three hundred (300) feet, and a 
list of the names and addresses of the owners of all lands on said map, indicating the current 



5 
 

zoning of Prairie Wind and its environs, and the jurisdiction, is attached as Group Exhibit E and 
incorporated herein.     
 
  Except as modified by the First Amendment and this Second Amendment, the PIP 
remains unchanged.  The landscaping, signage, lighting, organizational structure, the colors of 
the residential buildings, the consistency of the PIP with the GDP, as amended by the First 
Amendment and this Second Amendment, are not materially changed.   
 
  Because virtually all of the public infrastructure improvements for Prairie Wind 
are installed, no proof of financing capability is needed.  McMurr I will provide proof of 
financing capability, in the form of a letter of credit or other surety, for the construction of any 
additional public or private infrastructure improvements.  
 
  McMurr I believes that this amendment to the PIP will render Prairie Wind a 
more viable and improved in-fill development for the City.    
 
 
T:\M\McMurr, LLC\Prairie Wind\2017 PIP and plat\off copy\pip amndt-7.docx 

  



6 
 

PRAIRIE TOWNHOME CONDOMINIUM  
EXHIBIT B 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
 

 
DECLARED AREA PARCEL A 
 
LANDS LOCATED IN PART OF LOT 1 OF CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP NO. 3663, 
RECORDED IN VOLUME 22 ON PAGE 10 AS DOCUMENT NO. 593854; LOCATED IN 
PART OF THE NORTHWEST 1/4, SOUTHWEST 1/4, AND SOUTHEAST 1/4 OF THE 
SOUTHWEST 1/4 OF SECTION 32, TOWN 2 NORTH, RANGE 18 EAST, CITY OF LAKE 
GENEVA, WALWORTH COUNTY, WISCONSIN, MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED 
AS FOLLOWS:   
COMMENCING AT THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID LOT 1 OF C.S.M. 3663 AT THE 
NORTHERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY OF TOWN LINE ROAD; THENCE S 89DEG 54MIN 50SEC 
W, 198.99 FEET ALONG THE SAID NORTHERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE TO AN IRON 
PIPE STAKE; THENCE CONTINUE, S 00DEG 05MIN 10SEC E, 15.01 FEET; THENCE 
CONTINUE, S 89DEG 54MIN 50SEC W, 218.94 FEET TO THE EAST LINE OF CERTIFIED 
SURVEY MAP NO. 1974 (C.S.M. 1974); THENCE ALONG SAID EAST LINE, N 00DEG 
05MIN 10SEC W, 318.00 FEET TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF SAID C.S.M. 1974 
AND THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE S 89DEG 54MIN 50 SEC W, 243.35 FEET TO 
THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF SAID C.S.M. 1974; THENCE N 00DEG 05MIN 10SEC W, 
122.25 FEET; THENCE N 89DEG 54MIN 50SEC E, 70.00 FEET; THENCE N 44DEG 54MIN 
50SEC E, 137.95 FEET; THENCE S 56DEG 07MIN 23SEC E, 37.21 FEET; THENCE 66.91 
FEET ALONG THE ARC OF A CURVE TO THE RIGHT HAVING A RADIUS OF 119.00 
FEET AND A CHORD WHICH BEARS S 40DEG 00MIN 58SEC E, 66.03 FEET; THENCE S 
23DEG 54MIN 32SEC E, 17.37 FEET; THENCE 125.23 FEET ALONG THE ARC OF A 
CURVE TO THE RIGHT HAVING A RADIUS OF 244.00 FEET AND A CHORD WHICH 
BEARS S 09DEG 12MIN 19SEC E, 123.86 FEET; THENCE S 05DEG 29MIN 54SEC W, 
10.23 FEET; THENCE S 89DEG 54MIN 50SEC W, 23.09 FEET TO THE POINT OF 
BEGINNING.  CONTAINING 42,313 SQUARE FEET (0.97 ACRES) OF LAND, MORE OR 
LESS. 
 
DECLARED AREA PARCEL B 
 
LANDS LOCATED IN PART OF LOT 1 OF CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP NO. 3663, 
RECORDED IN VOLUME 22 ON PAGE 10 AS DOCUMENT NO. 593854; LOCATED IN 
PART OF THE NORTHWEST 1/4, SOUTHWEST 1/4, AND SOUTHEAST 1/4 OF THE 
SOUTHWEST 1/4 OF SECTION 32, TOWN 2 NORTH, RANGE 18 EAST, CITY OF LAKE 
GENEVA, WALWORTH COUNTY, WISCONSIN, MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED 
AS FOLLOWS:   
BEGINNING AT THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID LOT 1 OF C.S.M. 3663 AT THE 
NORTHERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY OF TOWN LINE ROAD; THENCE S 89DEG 54MIN 50SEC 
W, 198.99 FEET ALONG THE SAID NORTHERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE TO AN IRON 
PIPE STAKE; THENCE CONTINUE, S 00DEG 05MIN 10SEC E, 15.01 FEET; THENCE 
CONTINUE, S 89DEG 54MIN 50SEC W, 171.20 FEET; THENCE N 00DEG 05MIN 10SEC 



7 
 

W, 251.55 FEET; THENCE N 05DEG 29MIN 54SEC E, 73.97 FEET; THENCE 141.14 FEET 
ALONG THE ARC OF A CURVE TO THE LEFT HAVING A RADIUS OF 275.00 FEET 
AND A CHORD WHICH BEARS N 09DEG 12MIN 19SEC W, 139.60 FEET; THENCE N 
23DEG 54MIN 32SEC W, 17.37 FEET; THENCE 84.34 FEET ALONG THE ARC OF A 
CURVE TO THE LEFT HAVING A RADIUS OF 150.00 FEET AND A CHORD WHICH 
BEARS N 40SEC 00MIN 58SEC W, 83.23 FEET; THENCE N 56DEG 07MIN 23SEC W, 
54.50 FEET; THENCE 57.79 FEET ALONG THE ARC OF A CURVE TO THE RIGHT 
HAVING A RADIUS OF 300.00 FEET AND A CHORD WHICH BEARS N 50DEG 36MIN 
17SEC W, 57.70 FEET; THENCE N 45DEG 05MIN 10SEC W, 23.42 FEET; THENCE N 
38DEG 39MIN 48SEC E, 178.55 FEET TO THE NORTHEASTERLY LINE OF SAID C.S.M. 
3663; THENCE ALONG SAID NORTHEASTERLY LINE, S 48DEG 38MIN 27SEC E, 280.59 
FEET; THENCE CONTINUE, S 29DEG 03MIN 47SEC E, 511.18 FEET; THENCE 
CONTINUE, S 08DEG 33MIN 06SEC W, 119.09 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. 
CONTAINING 203,083 SQUARE FEET (4.66 ACRES) OF LAND, MORE OR LESS. 
 
Tax Key No. ZPRW 00054A 
 
AND 
Right of access across roadways and the right to connect to and/or use the sanitary and storm 
water sewer systems, street lighting system, domestic water system, fire protection system and 
other necessary systems as contained in Paragraph 5.05(g) of the Declaration of Condominium 
Ownership and of Easements, Restrictions, Covenants and Prairie Wind Townhomes 
Condominium recorded on October 28, 2004 as Document No. 621208, and amended by First 
Amendment to Condominium Declaration recorded on October 20, 2005, as Document No. 
657327, and amended by Second Amendment to Condominium Declaration recorded on August 
14, 2006, as Document No. 685123, and amended by Third Amendment to Condominium 
Declaration of Prairie Wind Townhomes Condominium recorded June 24, 2013 as Document 
No. 865669, and amended by Fourth Amendment to Condominium Declaration of Prairie Wind 
Townhomes Condominium recorded on June 25,2014 as Document No. 887093.  
(End of legal description.) 
 
Address: Prairie Lane, Lake Geneva, WI 
  



8 
 

PRAIRIE TOWNHOME CONDOMINIUM  
EXHIBIT C 

RIGHT-OF-WAY DEDICATION 
 
 
  See attached. 
  



T:\M \M cM urr, LLC\Prairie W ind\2017 PIP and plat\off copy\dedcn of pub rt-of-way-1.wpd

Document Number

Recording Area

Name and Return Address
James P. Howe, Esq.
GODFREY, LEIBSLE, BLACKBOURN &
  HOWARTH, S.C.
354 Seymour Court
Elkhorn, Wisconsin  53121

RIGHT-OF-WAY DEDICATION

Document Name

                Part of ZPRW 00054A                   
Parcel Identification Number (PIN)

THIS RIGHT-OF-WAY DEDICATION (“Dedication”) is
made this ____ day of ________, 2017, by McMurr I, LLC, an Illinois
limited liability company, as Grantor (“McMurr I”), to the City of
Lake Geneva, Walworth County, State of Wisconsin, as Grantee
(“City”).

RECITALS

WHEREAS, McMurr I is the fee simple owner of
certain real property, approximately fifteen (15) feet wide and one
hundred seventy-one and 20/100 (171.20) feet in length, adjacent and
contiguous to a portion of the north boundary of the public right-of-
way of Town Line Road, which portion is a City road, as depicted and
more particularly described in the attached Exhibit A incorporated
herein (“Property”); and

WHEREAS, McMurr I and the City desire that the Property be dedicated to the City for
public right-of-way use;

NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of
which are hereby acknowledged, the following grants, agreements, covenants, and restrictions are hereby
made:  

1. Incorporation of Preamble and Recitals.  The preamble and recitals above are
incorporated herein.

2. Dedication.  McMurr I hereby grants, warrants, transfers, convey, and dedicates the
Property to the City for public right-of-way purposes, free and clear of all liens and encumbrances.  

3. City Acceptance.  The City, by its execution of this Dedication, hereby accepts such
conveyance and dedication of the Property. 

4. Additional Documents.  The parties shall execute such other documents as may be
necessary to evidence the dedication of the Property.  



-2-T:\M \M cM urr, LLC\Prairie W ind\2017 PIP and plat\off copy\dedcn of pub rt-of-way-1.wpd

IN  WITNESS  WHEREOF, the parties have executed this
Dedication  on the date first written above.

CITY:

CITY OF LAKE GENEVA, a
Wisconsin municipal corporation

By:                                                      
Alan Kupsik, Mayor

Attest:                                                 
Sabrina Waswo, City Clerk

APPROVAL OF COMMON COUNCIL

This Dedication was approved by the Common Council of the City
of Lake Geneva by Resolution dated the ____ day of ________, 2017.



-3-T:\M \M cM urr, LLC\Prairie W ind\2017 PIP and plat\off copy\dedcn of pub rt-of-way-1.wpd

McMURR I, LLC, an Illinois limited
liability company

By:
Murray S. Peretz, Its Manager

STATE OF ILLINOIS )
) ss.

COUNTY OF ___________ )

Personally came before me this  day of _________________,
2017, the above-named Murray S. Peretz, the Manager of McMurr I, LLC, an Illinois
limited liability company, who acknowledged the foregoing document for the
purposes recited therein on behalf of said company. 

Notary Public, _________ County,
Illinois
My Commission Expires:

This instrument was drafted by:

James P. Howe, Esq.
GODFREY, LEIBSLE, BLACKBOURN &
  HOWARTH, S.C.
354 Seymour Court
Elkhorn, Wisconsin  53121
Telephone: (262) 723-3220
Facsimile: (262) 723-5121
Email: jhowe@godfreylaw.com

mailto:Emailjhowe@godfreylaw.com


-4-T:\M \M cM urr, LLC\Prairie W ind\2017 PIP and plat\off copy\dedcn of pub rt-of-way-1.wpd

CONSENT OF MORTGAGEE

The undersigned, being the holder of a mortgage executed by _____
to the undersigned recorded in the Office of the Register of Deeds for _____ County,
Wisconsin, on ______________, as Document No. ____________, in Volume _____
of Records, on Page _____, does hereby consent to all of the terms and conditions of
the foregoing Declaration, and agrees that its interest in the Property shall be subject
in all respects to the terms thereof.

Dated this _____ day of ____________, 200__.

MORTGAGEE:

By:

STATE OF WISCONSIN )
) ss.

COUNTY OF ___________ )

Personally came before me this  day of _________________,
200___, the above-named _________________, the _____ of _________, a
Wisconsin _____, who acknowledged the foregoing document for the purposes
recited therein on behalf of said __________.

Notary Public, _________ County, Wisconsin
My Commission Expires:



-5-T:\M \M cM urr, LLC\Prairie W ind\2017 PIP and plat\off copy\dedcn of pub rt-of-way-1.wpd

EXHIBIT A 
DEPICTION & LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF PROPERTY

See attached.





9 
 

PRAIRIE TOWNHOME CONDOMINIUM 
GROUP EXHIBIT D  

PLANS, ELEVATIONS, SCHEDULES & SECTIONS 
 
 
  See attached.  





















10 
 

PRAIRIE TOWNHOME CONDOMINIUM  
GROUP EXHIBIT E 

PROPERTY OWNERS WITHIN 300 FEET 
OF SUBJECT PROPERTY - LIST & MAP 

 
 
  See attached. 





Document Number

Recording Area

Name and Return Address
James P. Howe, Esq.
GODFREY, LEIBSLE, BLACKBOURN & 
HOWARTH, S.C. 
354 Seymour Court
Elkhorn, Wisconsin 53121 

DECLARATION OF CONDOMINIUM

Document Name

                      ZPRW 00054A                     
Parcel Identification Number (PIN)

THIS DECLARATION OF CONDOMINIUM
(“Declaration”), is made this _____ day of ________________, 2017,
by McMurr I, LLC,  an Illinois limited liability company
(“Declarant”).

ARTICLE I
DECLARATION

Declarant hereby declares that it is the sole owner of
the Land (as defined in Section 2.02, below), together with all
improvements located thereon and all easements, rights, and
appurtenances pertaining thereto (collectively, “Property”), and further
declares that the Property is hereby submitted to the condominium
form of ownership as provided in Wis. Stat. ch. 703 (“Condominium
Ownership Act”).

ARTICLE II
NAME; DESCRIPTION OF PROPERTY

2.01 Name.  The name of the condominium created by this Declaration (“Condominium”)
is “Prairie Townhome Condominium.”   

2.02 Legal Description.  The land comprising the Property (“Land”) is located in the City
of Lake Geneva, County of Walworth, State of Wisconsin, and is legally described on the attached Exhibit
A incorporated herein.

2.03 Address.  The address of the Condominium is Prairie Lane, Lake Geneva, WI 53147.

ARTICLE III
DESCRIPTION OF UNITS

3.01 Identification of Units.  The Condominium shall initially consist of thirty-one (31)
units (individually, “Unit”; collectively, “Units”), located in the buildings (individually, “Building”;
collectively, “Buildings”) identified on the condominium plat attached hereto as Exhibit B and incorporated
herein by reference (“Condominium Plat”), together with the Common Elements as described in Article IV,
below.  The Condominium Plat shows floor plans for each Unit showing the layout, boundaries, and
dimensions of each Unit.  The Units shall be identified as Units 101, 102, 103, 104, 105, 201, 202, 203, 204,
205, 301, 302, 303, 304, 305, 401, 402, 403, 404, 405, 406, 501, 502, 503, 504, 505, 506, 601, 602, 603,
604, and 605, inclusive, as numbered on the Condominium Plat.  The Condominium shall be subject to



-2-

expansion as described in Article VI, below.  Each owner of a Unit is referred to as a “Unit Owner.”  Where
a Unit has been sold under a land contract, the purchaser (and not the vendor) shall be the Unit Owner.

3.02 Boundaries of Units.  The boundaries of each Unit shall be as follows:

(a) Upper Boundary.  The upper boundary of the Unit shall be the interior
lower surface of the supporting members of the roof above the highest
level of the living area, extended to an intersection with the perimetrical
boundaries.

  
(b) Lower Boundary.  The lower boundary of the Unit shall be the upper

surface of the unfinished floor of the lowest level of the Unit consisting
of the garage and first floor extended to an intersection with the
perimetrical boundaries.

(c) Perimetrical Boundary.  The perimetrical boundaries of the Unit shall be
vertical planes of the inside surface of the studs supporting the interior
walls, in either case extending to intersections with each other and with
the upper and lower boundaries.

3.03 Additional Items Included as Part of Unit.  The Unit shall also include each
of the following items that serve such Unit exclusively, whether or not located within the boundaries
described in Section 3.02, above:

(a) Windows, doors, and garage doors (with all opening, closing, and locking
mechanisms and all hardware) that provide direct access to or within the
Unit.  

(b) Interior lights and light fixtures.

(c) Cabinets.

(d) Floor, wall, baseboard, or ceiling electrical outlets and switches and the
junction boxes serving them.

(e) Telephone, fax, cable television, computer, Internet, stereo, or other
sound systems, if any, including outlets, switches, hardware, and other
appurtenances serving them.

(f) Plumbing fixtures, hot water heaters, fire sprinklers, if any, water
softeners, if any, and the piping, valves, and other connecting and
controlling mechanisms and devices lying between the fixture and water
or sewage lines serving more than one (1) Unit.

(g) The heating, ventilating, and air conditioning system, including the
furnaces, air conditioning equipment, the control mechanisms, all vents



-3-

from the Unit to the exterior of the Condominium, including vents for
furnaces, clothes dryer, range hood, all other exhaust fans, and such other
vents appurtenant to each Unit, condensers and all connections thereto
serving each Unit.

Specifically not included as part of a Unit are those structural components of each Building and any
portion of the plumbing, electrical, or mechanical systems of the Building serving more than one (1) Unit
or another Unit, even if located within the Unit.  Any structural components and all plumbing, electrical,
mechanical, and public or private utility lines running through a Unit that serve more than one (1) Unit
or another Unit are Common Elements.

3.04  Unbuilt Units.  The Unit Owners of all Units within any Building not yet
constructed shall have the right, at their sole cost and expense, to construct such Building in accordance
with the Condominium Plat.  Until such Building has been substantially completed, such Unit Owners
shall bear the entire cost of construction, maintenance, repair, and insurance of the Building, and shall
maintain builder’s risk insurance for such Building.  Upon substantial completion of any Building, the
Unit Owners thereof shall notify the Association (as defined below), at which point such portions of the
Building that are Common Elements shall be maintained, repaired, replaced, and insured by the
Association, and the costs thereof shall be Common Expenses.  A Building shall be considered
“substantially complete” if it houses any Unit for which an occupancy permit has been issued.

ARTICLE IV
COMMON ELEMENTS; LIMITED COMMON ELEMENTS

4.01 Common Elements.  The common elements (collectively, “Common
Elements”) are all of the condominium except for the Units.  The Common Elements include, without
limitation, the following:

(a) The Land;

(b) The paved driveways, private streets, pedestrian walkways, if any,
situated on the Land;

(c) The foundations, columns, pilasters, girders, beams, supports,
main walls (which shall be defined as exterior walls and surfaces,
structural walls, common walls between Units, roof trusses, and
roofs);

(d) That part of the fire sprinkler system, if any, and its associated
piping and operating mechanisms serving more than one (1) Unit;

(e) Any other portion of the improvements to the Land that is not part
of a Unit as described above; and

(f) Mailbox islands.



-4-

4.02 Limited Common Elements.  Certain Common Elements as described
in this section shall be reserved for the exclusive use of the Unit Owners of one (1) or more but less than
all of the Units.  Such Common Elements shall be referred to collectively as “Limited Common
Elements.”  The following Common Elements shall be reserved for the exclusive use of one (1) or more
Unit Owners as described herein:  All sidewalks, access ways, steps, stoops, and decks attached to,
leading directly to or from, or adjacent to each Unit.

4.03 Conflict Between Unit Boundaries; Common Element Boundaries.

(a) If any portion of the Common Elements shall encroach on any
Unit, or if any Unit shall encroach on any other Unit or on any portion of the Common Elements as a
result of the duly authorized construction, reconstruction, or repair of a Building, or as a result of settling
or shifting of a Building, then the existing physical boundaries of such Units or Common Elements shall
be conclusively presumed to be the boundaries of such Units or Common Elements, regardless of the
variations between the physical boundaries described in Sections 3.02 and 3.03, above, or elsewhere in
this Declaration or shown on the Condominium Plat and the existing physical boundaries of any such
Units or Common Elements.  

(b) If any portion of the Common Elements shall encroach upon any
Unit, or if any Unit shall encroach on any other Unit or on any portion of the Common Elements as a
result of the duly authorized construction, reconstruction, or repair of a Building, or as a result of settling
or shifting of a Building, then a valid easement for the encroachment and for its maintenance shall exist
so long as such Building stands; provided, however, that if any such encroachment or easement
materially impairs any Unit Owner’s enjoyment of the Unit owned by such Unit Owner or of the
Common Elements in the judgment of the Board of Directors of the Association (as defined below), such
encroachment shall be removed or just compensation shall be provided to each injured Unit Owner
within ninety (90) days of the discovery of the encroachment.

(c) Following any change in the location of the boundaries of the Units
under this Section 4.03, the square footages of all affected Units or Common Elements shall continue
to be determined by the square footages, if any, shown on the Condominium Plat for all purposes under
this Declaration.

ARTICLE V
PERCENTAGE INTERESTS; VOTING

5.01 Percentage Interests.  The undivided percentage interest in the Common
Elements (“Percentage Interest”) appurtenant to each Unit shall be a percentage equal to one (1) divided
by the total number of Units.  Each Unit’s Percentage shall be 3.2258%.

5.02 Conveyance, Lease, or Encumbrance of Percentage Interest.  Any
deed, mortgage, lease, or other instrument purporting to convey, encumber, or lease any Unit shall be
deemed to include the Unit Owner’s undivided Percentage Interest in the Common Elements and in the
insurance proceeds or condemnation awards even though such interest is not expressly described or
referred to therein.



-5-

5.03 Voting.  Each Unit shall have one (1) vote appurtenant to such Unit at
meetings of the Association (as defined in Article VII, below).

5.04 Multiple Owners.  If there are multiple owners of any Unit, their votes
shall be counted in the manner provided in the Association’s Bylaws (as defined below).

5.05 Limitations on Voting Rights.  No Unit Owner shall be entitled to vote
on any matter submitted to a vote of the Unit Owners until the Unit Owner’s name and current mailing
address, and the name and address of the Mortgagee of the Unit, if any, has been furnished to the
secretary of the Association.  The Bylaws of the Association may contain a provision prohibiting any
Unit Owner from voting on any matter submitted to a vote of the Unit Owners if the Association has
recorded a statement of condominium lien on the Unit and the amount necessary to release the lien has
not been paid at the time of the voting.

ARTICLE VI
CONDOMINIUM ASSOCIATION

6.01 General.  Following the conveyance of the first Unit to any person other
than Declarant, all Unit Owners shall be entitled and required to be a member of an association of Unit
Owners known as “Prairie Townhome Condominium Association, Inc.” (“Association”), which shall
be responsible for carrying out the purposes of this Declaration, including exclusive management and
control of the Common Elements and facilities of the Condominium, which may include the
appointment and delegation of duties and responsibilities hereunder to a committee or subcommittee
commissioned by the Association for that purpose.  The Association shall be incorporated as a nonprofit
corporation under the laws of the State of Wisconsin.  The powers and duties of the Association shall
include those set forth in the Association’s Articles of Incorporation (“Articles”) and Bylaws (“Bylaws”),
the Condominium Ownership Act, this Declaration, and Wis. Stat. ch. 181 (“Wisconsin Nonstock
Corporation Law”).  All Unit Owners, tenants of Units, and all other persons and entities that in any
manner use the Property or any part thereof shall abide by and be subject to all of the provisions of all
rules and regulations of the Association (collectively, “Rules and Regulations”), this Declaration, the
Articles, and Bylaws.  The Association shall have the exclusive right to promulgate, and to delegate the
right to promulgate, the Rules and Regulations from time to time and shall distribute to each Unit Owner
the updated version of such Rules and Regulations upon any amendment or modification to the Rules
and Regulations.  Any new rule or regulation or any revision to an existing rule and regulation shall
become effective immediately upon distribution to the Unit Owners.

6.02 Declarant Control.  Notwithstanding anything contained in this
Declaration to the contrary, Declarant shall totally govern the affairs of the Condominium and pay all
expenses thereof until a Unit has been sold to any person other than Declarant.  Declarant may exercise
any rights granted to, or perform any obligations imposed on, Declarant under this Declaration through
its duly authorized agent.  After a Unit has been sold to any person other than Declarant, except as
provided in Section 6.03, below, Declarant shall have the right to appoint and remove the officers of the
Association and to exercise any and all powers and responsibilities assigned to the Association and its
officers by the Articles, Bylaws, the Condominium Ownership Act, this Declaration, and the Wisconsin
Nonstock Corporation Law from the date the first Unit of this Condominium is conveyed by Declarant



-6-

to any person other than Declarant, until the earliest of: (a) three (3) years from such date, unless the
statute governing condominiums is amended to permit a longer period, in which event, such longer
period shall apply; or (b) thirty (30) days after the conveyance of seventy-five percent (75%) of the
Percentage Interest to purchasers; or (c) thirty (30) days after Declarant’s election to waive its right of
control.

6.03 Board of Directors.  The affairs of the Association shall be governed by
a Board of Directors.  Within thirty (30) days after the conveyance of twenty-five percent (25%) of the
Common Element interest of the Condominium to purchasers, the Association shall hold a meeting, and
the Unit Owners other than Declarant shall elect at least twenty-five percent (25%) of the directors on
the Board of Directors.  Within thirty (30) days after the conveyance of fifty percent (50%) of the
Common Element interest of the Condominium to purchasers, the Association shall hold a meeting, and
the Unit Owners other than Declarant shall elect at least thirty-three and one-third percent (33-1/3%) of
the directors on the Board of Directors. 

6.04 Maintenance and Repairs.  

(a) By Association.  The Association shall be responsible for the
management and control of the Common Elements and Limited Common Elements (except decks) and
shall maintain the same in good, clean, and attractive order and repair, and shall have an easement over
the entire Condominium for the purpose of carrying out these responsibilities.  In addition, the
Association shall be responsible for providing and maintaining all Limited Common Elements; for snow
plowing all sidewalks, driveways, private streets, parking areas; and the maintenance, repair, and
replacement of all outdoor amenities, including lawns, landscaping, sidewalks, bicycle paths, driveways,
and parking areas.  The Association shall be responsible for repairing and replacing when necessary any
Common Elements and Limited Common Elements.

(b) By Unit Owner.  Each Unit Owner shall be responsible for the
maintenance, repair, and replacement of all other improvements constructed within the Unit (including
the electrical, heating, and air conditioning systems serving such Unit, and including any ducts, vents,
wires, cables, or conduits designed or used in connection with such electrical, heating, or air
conditioning systems), and for the maintenance (but not the repair or replacement of) exterior deck areas
appurtenant to the Unit, except to the extent any repair cost is paid by the Association’s insurance policy
described in Section 8.01, below.  Each Unit shall at all times be kept in good condition and repair.  If
any Unit or portion of a Unit for which a Unit Owner is responsible falls into disrepair so as to create
a dangerous, unsafe, unsightly, or unattractive condition, or a condition that results in damage to the
Common Elements, the Association, upon fifteen (15) days prior written notice to the Unit Owners of
such Unit, shall have the right to correct such condition or to restore the Unit to its condition existing
prior to the disrepair, or the damage or destruction if such was the cause of the disrepair, and to enter
into such Unit for the purpose of doing so, and the Unit Owners of such Unit shall promptly reimburse
the Association for the cost thereof.  All amounts due for such work shall be paid within ten (10) days
after receipt of written demand therefor, or the amounts may, at the option of the Association, be levied
against the Unit as a Special Assessment under Section 6.07, below.

(c) Damage Caused by Unit Owners.  To the extent (i) any cleaning,
maintenance, repair, or replacement of all or any part of any Common Elements or the Unit is required



-7-

as a result of the negligent, reckless, or intentional act or omission of any Unit Owner, tenant, or
occupant of a Unit, or (ii) any cleaning, maintenance, repair, replacement, or restoration of all or any part
of any Common Element or the Unit is required as a result of an alteration to a Unit by any Unit Owner,
tenant, or occupant of a Unit, or the removal of any such alteration (regardless of whether the alteration
was approved by the Association or any committee thereof), or (iii) the Association must restore the
Common Elements or the Unit following any alteration of a Common Element or Limited Common
Element required by this Declaration, or the removal of any such alteration, the Unit Owner that
committed the act or omission or that caused the alteration, or the Unit Owners of the Unit occupied by
such tenant or occupant or responsible for such guest, contractor, agent, or invitee, shall pay the cost of
such cleaning, maintenance, repair, replacement and restoration.

6.05 Common Expenses.  Any and all expenses incurred by the Association
in connection with the management, maintenance, repair, and replacement of the Condominium,
maintenance of the Common Elements and other areas described in Section 6.04, above, and
administration of the Association shall be deemed to be common expenses (collectively, “Common
Expenses”), including, without limitation, expenses incurred for: landscaping and lawn care; snow
shoveling and plowing; improvements to the Common Elements; common grounds security lighting;
municipal utility services provided to the Common Elements; trash collection; and maintenance and
management salaries and wages.

6.06 Annual Budget, Assessment and Collection of Common
Expenses: The Board shall each year, on or before June 1 , estimate the total amount of all anticipatedst

Common Expenses and any amounts to be allocated to reserves, whether statutory or designated, and
shall prepare an annual budget for the following fiscal year, taking into account any other anticipated
Association expenses, the amount and source of any income other than Unit Owner assessments,
surpluses, amounts in reserve (statutory or designated) and the anticipated Unit Owner assessment, and
shall, on or before June 15 ,  notify each Unit Owner in writing as to the Unit Owner’s share of suchth

assessment.  The assessment for each Unit shall be assessed to the Unit Owner in accordance with the
Unit’s Percentage Interest. On July 1  of the first fiscal year, and the first of each and every  month ofst

such year, each Unit Owner shall be obligated to pay the Unit Owner’s assessment made pursuant to this
section. 

6.07 Reserve for Contingencies; Special Assessments.  

a. The Board shall build up and maintain a reasonable reserve for
contingencies and replacements for Common Elements;

b. Replacement of the siding, roof, and gutters when necessary shall first be
paid by levy of a special assessment. 

c. Extraordinary expenditures not originally included in the annual estimate
that may become necessary during the year shall be charged first against such reserve.  If said estimated
cash requirement proves inadequate for any reason, including nonpayment of any Unit Owners
assessment, the Board may, at any time, levy a further assessment, special or otherwise, which shall be
assessed to the Unit Owners in accordance with their Percentage Interest.  The Board shall serve notice
of such further assessment on all Unit Owners by a statement in writing, giving the amount and reasons



-8-

therefore, and such further assessment shall become effective with the first monthly maintenance
payment which is due more than ten (10) days after the delivery or mailing of such notice of further
assessment.  All Unit Owners shall be obligated to pay the adjusted monthly amount.  At the time each
Unit is first sold by Declarant, the initial Unit Owners shall pay, in addition to the first monthly
assessment to the Association, an amount equal to three (3) times the first full monthly regular
assessment for such Unit Owner, which amount shall be used and applied as an operating reserve for
Common Expenses in the manner provided by the Act. 

6.08 Budget Review.  Any proposed expenditure or action for the repair, maintenance
or upkeep of the Property, or for the operation of the Property, shall be subject to review or challenge
as provided under the Act.  

6.09 Records.  The Board shall keep full and correct books recording the receipts,
expenses and reserves of the Association. The books shall be available for inspection by a Unit Owner
or representative of the Unit Owner identified in writing during normal business hours upon written
request.  The Board may require a written notice of the request to inspect the books and may levy a
reasonable charge, not to exceed Twenty-five and no/100 ($25.00) Dollars, to be prepaid prior to any
inspection.  The Board shall furnish the Unit Owner upon written request a statement of the current
amount due from the Unit Owner for any assessments. 

6.10 Remedies for Failure to Pay Assessments: If any Unit Owner shall default in
the payment of any charge or assessment imposed by the Board, the Board shall have the authority for
and on behalf of itself and the Association and as the representative of all Unit Owners, to exercise and
enforce any and all rights and remedies as may be provided by the Act, by the By-Laws, this Declaration
or otherwise available at law or in equity, for the collection of all such unpaid charges or assessments.

6.11 General Assessments.  The Association shall levy monthly general assessments
(“General Assessments”) against the Unit Owners for the purpose of maintaining a fund from which
Common Expenses may be paid.  The General Assessments against the Unit Owners shall be assessed
in proportion to their Percentage Interests.  General Assessments shall be due in advance on the first day
of each month, or in such other manner as the Association may set forth in the Bylaws.  Any General
Assessment not paid when due shall bear interest until paid, as set forth in the Bylaws and, together with
interest, collection costs, and reasonable attorney fees, shall constitute a lien on the Unit on which it is
assessed if a statement of condominium lien is filed within two (2) years after the assessment becomes
due as provided in the Condominium Ownership Act.  

Notwithstanding the foregoing, Units not yet sold by Declarant shall not be subject to
General Assessments.  If, however, during the period of Declarant control the General Assessments
against any Unit not owned by Declarant would exceed the amount set forth in the budget per Unit
(excluding any portion of General Assessments to fund reserves), Declarant shall either (a) record a
document to cause its Units to be subject to General Assessments, or (b) pay to the Association the
amount necessary to cause the General Assessments against the Units not owned by Declarant to be
reduced to the amount set forth in the budget per Unit (excluding any portion of General Assessments
used to fund reserves).  Furthermore, if the Association has established a statutory reserve account under
Wis. Stat. § 703.163, (i) no reserve fund assessments shall be levied against any Unit until a certificate
of occupancy has been issued for that Unit, and (ii) payment of any reserve fund assessments against any



-9-

Unit owned by Declarant may be deferred until the earlier to occur of (a) the first conveyance of such
Unit, or (b) five years from the date exterior construction of the Building in which the Unit is located
has been completed.

6.12 Special Assessments.  The Association may, whenever necessary or appropriate,
levy special assessments (“Special Assessments”) against the Unit Owners, or any of them, for
deficiencies in the case of destruction or condemnation as set forth in Section 9.05 and Section 10.05,
below; for defraying the cost of improvements to the Common Elements; for the collection of monies
owed to the Association under any provision of this Declaration, including, without limitation, Section
6.04, above, and Article XIII, below, or for any other purpose for which the Association may determine
a Special Assessment is necessary or appropriate for the improvement or benefit of the Condominium.
Special Assessments shall be paid at such time and in such manner as the Association may determine.
Any Special Assessment or installment not paid when due shall bear interest until paid, as set forth in
the Bylaws and, together with the interest, collection costs, and reasonable attorney fees, shall constitute
a lien on the Unit on which it is assessed if a statement of condominium lien is filed within two (2) years
after the Special Assessment becomes due as provided in the Condominium Ownership Act.

6.13 Common Surpluses.  If the surpluses of the Association (“Common Surpluses”)
should be accumulated, other than surpluses in any construction fund as described in Sections 9.06 and
10.06, below, such Common Surpluses may be credited against the Unit Owners’ General Assessments
in proportion to their respective Percentage Interests or may be used for any other purpose as the
Association may determine.

6.14 Certificate of Status.  The Association shall, upon the written request of an
owner, purchaser, or Mortgagee of a Unit (as defined below), issue a certificate of status of lien.  Any
such party may conclusively rely on the information set forth in such certificate.

6.15 Management Services.  The Association shall have the right to enter into a
management contract with a manager selected by the Association (“Manager”) under which services may
be provided to the Unit Owners to create a community environment for the entire Condominium
community.  Such services may include, without limitation, provision of activity programs, community
lounges, and housekeeping services.  Certain of such services may be available only on a fee-for-services
basis by agreement between the Manager and individual Unit Owners.  All amounts payable by the
Association to the Manager under the management contract shall be chargeable to the Owners as a
Common Expense.  The management contract shall be subject to termination by the Association under
Wis. Stat. § 703.35.

ARTICLE VII
ALTERATIONS AND USE RESTRICTIONS

7.01 Unit Alterations.

(a) A Unit Owner may make improvements and alterations within its Unit;
provided, however, that such improvements or alterations shall not impair the structural soundness or
integrity or lessen the structural support of any portion of the Condominium, and do not impair any
easement.  A Unit Owner may not change the dimensions of or the exterior appearance of a Unit or any



-10-

portion of the Common Elements without obtaining the prior written permission of the Association,
which permission may be denied in the sole discretion of the Association.  Any approved improvement
or alteration that changes the exterior dimensions of a Unit must be evidenced by recording a
modification to this Declaration and the Condominium Plat before it shall be effective and must comply
with the then applicable legal requirements for such amendment or addendum.  Furthermore, any
approved improvements or alterations must be accomplished in accordance with applicable laws and
regulations, must not unreasonably interfere with the use and enjoyment of the other Units and the
Common Elements, and must not be in violation of any underlying mortgage, land contract, or similar
security interest.

(b) A Unit Owner acquiring an adjoining part of another Unit may remove
all or any part of the intervening partition wall or create doorways or other apertures therein.  This may
be done even if the partition wall may, in whole or in part, be a Common Element, provided that those
acts do not impair the structural integrity or lessen the support of any portion of the Condominium, do
not reduce the value of the Condominium, and do not impair any easement.  The creation of doorways
or other apertures is not deemed an alteration of boundaries.

(c) If a Unit Owner acquires all of one (1) or more adjoining Units, the Unit
Owner’s Percentage Interest shall be equal to the number of Units so combined divided by the total
number of Units, and as otherwise provided in Section 5.01, above.

7.02 Separation, Merger, and Boundary Relocation.  Boundaries between Units may
be relocated upon compliance with § 703.13(6) of the Condominium Ownership Act and with the prior
written consent of the Association.  A Unit may be separated into two (2) or more units only upon
compliance with § 703.13(7) of the Condominium Ownership Act and with the prior written consent of
the Association.  Furthermore, two (2) or more Units may be merged into a single unit only upon
compliance with § 703.13(8) of the Condominium Ownership Act and with the prior written consent of
the Association.  No boundaries of any Units may be relocated, no Unit may be separated, and no Units
may be merged hereunder without the consent of all Owners and Mortgagees having an interest in the
Unit or Units affected.  

Any Unit Owner applying for a boundary relocation, Unit separation, or merger of Units
shall provide to the Association for review complete plans and specifications for the relocation,
separation, or merger, accompanied by a signed statement from a Wisconsin-licensed structural engineer
or professional engineer specializing in structural engineering certifying that the alteration described by
the plans and specifications will not impair the structural integrity or strength of the building.
Furthermore, each Unit Owner applying for a boundary relocation, Unit separation, or merger shall pay
the Association’s cost of application review and documentation, including, without limitation, any and
all engineering, surveying, and legal fees incurred by the Association in considering such application and
preparing any documentation, whether or not the application is ultimately approved.  Where any
boundary relocation, unit separation, or merger would require the approval of the municipality in which
the Condominium is located, the applicant shall obtain such approval.  The Association may recover any
unpaid costs by imposing a Special Assessment against the applicant’s Unit.  Following any boundary
relocation, Unit separation, or merger, the Percentage Interests shall be reallocated as follows:



-11-

(a) In the case of a boundary relocation, the Percentage Interests that were
formerly appurtenant to the Units whose boundaries are being adjusted
shall be determined as follows: for each resulting Unit (“Resulting Unit”),
the Percentage Interests of the two (2) Units whose boundary is being
relocated shall be added together, and multiplied by a fraction, the
numerator of which is the square footage of the Resulting Unit, and the
denominator of which is the square footage of both Resulting Units.  The
product is the new Percentage Interest for the Resulting Unit.
Furthermore, votes in the Association that were formerly appurtenant to
the Units whose boundaries are being adjusted shall be reallocated in the
same manner.

(b) In the case of a Unit separation, the Percentage Interests appurtenant to
each Resulting Unit shall be determined as follows: for each Resulting
Unit, the Percentage Interest in the original Unit from which the
Resulting Unit is created (“Original Unit”) shall be multiplied by a
fraction, the numerator of which is the total square footage of the
Resulting Unit, and the denominator of which is the total square footage
of all Resulting Units that were originally part of the Original Unit.  The
product shall be the new Percentage Interest for the Resulting Unit.
Furthermore, votes in the Association that were formerly appurtenant to
the Original Unit that are to be assigned to the Resulting Units shall be
reallocated in the same manner.

(c) In the case of the merger of two (2) or more Units, the Percentage
Interests appurtenant to the resulting Unit shall be the combined
percentages of the Units from which the resulting Unit was created.
Furthermore, votes in the Association appurtenant to the resulting Unit
shall be the combined votes of the Units from which the resulting Unit
was created.

(d) An amendment to the Declaration or the plat pursuant to these procedures
shall require only the signatures of the Association and the Unit Owners
and Mortgagees of the affected Units.

7.03 Use and Restrictions on Use of Unit.  Each Unit shall be used for single-family
residential purposes and for no other purpose unless otherwise authorized by the Association before the
commencement of such use.  A Unit shall be deemed to be used for “single-family residential purposes”
if it is occupied by no more than one (1) family (defined to include persons related by birth, marriage,
or legal adoption) plus no more than two (2) unrelated persons.  No business, whether or not for profit,
including, without limitation, any day care center, animal boarding business, products distributorship,
manufacturing facility, sales office, or professional practice, may be conducted from any Unit. The
foregoing restrictions as to residence and use shall not, however, be construed in such a manner as to
prohibit a Unit Owner from:

(a) Maintaining his or her personal professional library in his or her Unit;



-12-

(b) Keeping his or her personal business or professional records or accounts
in his or her Unit;

(c) Handling his or her personal or business records or accounts in his or her
Unit; or

(d) Handling his or her personal business or professional telephone calls or
correspondence from his or her Unit.

Nothing in this Section 7.03 shall authorize the maintaining of an office at which customers or clients
customarily call and the same is prohibited.

7.04 Nuisances.  No nuisances shall be allowed on the Property, nor any use or practice
that is unlawful or interferes with the peaceful possession and proper use of the Condominium by the
Unit Owners or that would cause an increase in the premiums for insurance required to be maintained
by the Association under Section 8.01, below.  All parts of the Condominium shall be kept in a clean
and sanitary condition, and no fire or other hazard shall be allowed to exist.  No Unit Owner shall permit
any use of its Unit or of the Common Elements that increases the cost of insuring the Condominium.

7.05 Lease of Units.  Each Unit or any part thereof may be rented by written lease,
provided that:

(a) The term of any such lease shall not be less than twelve (12) months;

(b) The lease contains a statement obligating all tenants to abide by this
Declaration, the Articles, the Bylaws, and the Rules and Regulations,
providing that the lease is subject and subordinate to the same; 

(c) The lease provides that any default arising out of the tenant’s failure to
abide by the Declaration, the Articles, the Bylaws, and the Rules and
Regulations shall be enforceable by the Association as a third-party
beneficiary to the lease and that the Association shall have, in addition to
all rights and remedies provided under the Declaration, the Articles, the
Bylaws and the Rules and Regulations, the right to evict the tenant and/or
terminate the lease should any such violation continue for a period of ten
(10) days following delivery of written notice to the tenant specifying the
violation; and

(d) A true and complete copy of the lease shall be provided to the
Association at least ten (10) days prior to execution so that the
Association can confirm that the lease meets the requirements of this
section.

During the term of the lease of all or any part of a Unit, the Unit Owner shall remain
liable for the compliance of the Unit, such Unit Owner, and all tenants of the Unit, with all provisions
of this Declaration, the Bylaws, and the rules and regulations of the Association, and shall be responsible



-13-

for securing such compliance from the tenants of the Unit.  The restrictions against leasing contained
in this Section 7.05 shall not apply to leases of the Units by the Declarant or leases of the Units to the
Association, and may not be amended to impose further restrictions on the right to lease or deleted
without the prior written consent of Declarant.

7.06 Signs.  No sign of any kind shall be displayed to the public view on any Unit
without the written consent of the Association and, if Declarant owns at least one (1) Unit, Declarant.
Declarant reserves the right to erect signs, gates, or other entryway features surrounded with landscaping
at the entrances to the Condominium and to erect appropriate signage for the sales of Units.

7.07 Garbage and Refuse Disposal.  No Unit shall be used or maintained as a
dumping ground for rubbish, trash, garbage, or waste.  All clippings, rocks, or earth must be in
containers.

7.08 Storage.  Outdoor storage of disabled vehicles or personal property shall not be
permitted.  No firewood or woodpile shall be kept outside a structure unless it is neatly stacked and
screened from street view.  No vehicles shall be parked on any yard at any time.

7.09 Pets.  Pets are permitted in accordance with the current applicable Rules and
Regulations.

7.10 Landscaping.  Unit Owners may not plant any decorative plants, vegetables, and
shrubbery outside of their Unit without the prior written consent of the Association.

ARTICLE VIII
INSURANCE

8.01 Fire and Extended Loss Insurance.  The Board of Directors of the Association
shall obtain and maintain fire, casualty, and special form insurance coverage for the Common Elements,
for the Unit as originally constructed as of the date the occupancy permit for the Unit was originally
issued, and for the Association’s service equipment, supplies, and personal property.  Each Unit Owner
shall obtain and maintain fire, casualty, and special form insurance coverage for all improvements to the
Unit made after issuance of the original certificate of occupancy and all improvements located therein
for not less than the full replacement value thereof.  Insurance coverage for the Common Elements shall
be reviewed and adjusted by the Board of Directors of the Association from time to time to ensure that
the required coverage is at all times provided.  

The insurance maintained by the Association shall be written on the Condominium’s
Common Elements in the name of the Association as insurance trustee for the individual Unit Owners
in their respective Percentage Interests, and may list each Unit Owner as an additional insured with
respect to its Unit.  The policy shall contain the standard mortgagee clause, which shall be endorsed to
provide that any proceeds shall be paid to the Association, as insurance trustee, for the use and benefit
of any Mortgagee as its interest may appear.  All premiums for such insurance shall be Common
Expenses.  In the event of damage to or destruction of all or part of the Condominium insured hereunder,



-14-

the proceeds of the insurance shall be paid to the Association, as insurance trustee, for the Unit Owners
and the Mortgagees and distributed as provided in Article IX, below.

8.02 Public Liability Insurance.  The Board of Directors of the Association shall
obtain and maintain a comprehensive liability insurance policy insuring the Association, its officers,
directors, and the Unit Owners against any liability arising out of the maintenance, repair, ownership,
or use of the Common Elements.  Liability coverage shall be for at least One Million and 00/100 Dollars
($1,000,000.00) per occurrence for personal injury and/or property damage or such higher limit as may
be adopted from time to time by the Association.  The insurance coverage shall be written on the
Condominium in the name of the Association as insurance trustee for the Association, its directors and
officers, and for the individual Unit Owners in their respective Percentage Interests.  Such insurance
policy shall contain a “severability of interest” or cross-liability endorsement, which shall preclude the
insurer from denying the claim of a Unit Owner because of the negligent acts of the Association or other
Unit Owners.  All premiums for such insurance shall be Common Expenses.  Each Unit Owner shall
have the right to insure its own Unit for personal benefit.

8.03 Fidelity Insurance.  Subsequent to the sale by Declarant of the first Unit, the
Association shall require or maintain fidelity coverage against dishonest acts by any person responsible
for handling the funds belonging to or administered by the Association.  The Association shall be named
insured and the insurance shall be in an amount of not less than fifty percent (50%) of the Association’s
annual operating expenses and reserves.  All premiums for such insurance shall be Common Expenses.

8.04 Directors’ and Officers' Insurance.  Subsequent to the conveyance of title by
Declarant to the first Unit, the Association shall require or maintain insurance on behalf of any person
who is or was a director or officer of the Association against liability asserted against or incurred by him
or her in any such capacity or arising out of his or her status as such.  Such coverage shall be in the
minimum amount of at least One Million and 00/100 Dollars ($1,000,000.00), or such higher minimum
amounts as are needed in the discretion of the Association to comport with the prevailing commercial
practice.

8.05 Mutual Waiver of Subrogation.  Nothing in this Declaration shall be construed
so as to authorize or permit any insurer of the Association or a Unit Owner to be subrogated to any right
of the Association or a Unit Owner arising under this Declaration.  The Association and each Unit
Owner hereby release each other to the extent of any perils to be insured against by either of such parties
under the terms of this Declaration or the Bylaws, whether or not such insurance has actually been
secured, and to the extent of their respective insurance coverage for any loss or damage caused by any
such casualty, even if such incidents shall be brought about by the fault or negligence of either party for
whose acts, omissions, or negligence the other party is responsible.  All insurance policies to be provided
under this article by either the Association or a Unit Owner shall contain a provision that they are not
invalidated by the foregoing waiver.  Such waiver shall, however, cease to be effective if the existence
thereof precludes either the Association or a Unit Owner from obtaining such policy.

8.06 Standards for All Insurance Policies.  All insurance policies provided under this
article shall be written by companies duly qualified to do business in the State of Wisconsin, with a
general policyholder’s rating of at least “A” and a financial rating of at least Class VII, as rated in the
latest edition of Best’s Key Rating Guide, unless the Board of Directors of the Association determines



-15-

by unanimous vote or unanimous written consent that any policy may be issued by a company having
a different rating.

ARTICLE IX
RECONSTRUCTION, REPAIR, OR SALE IN

THE EVENT OF DAMAGE OR DESTRUCTION

9.01 Determination to Reconstruct or Repair.  If all or any part of the Condominium
becomes damaged or is destroyed by any cause, the damaged portion shall be repaired or reconstructed
except as provided otherwise in this Section 9.01.

(a) Damage Less Than Five Percent (5%) of Replacement Cost.  If the cost
to repair or reconstruct the damaged the damaged portion of the Condominium is less than five percent
(5%) of the replacement cost of all improvements constituting the Condominium, the damaged portion
of the Condominium shall be repaired or reconstructed even if the cost of such repair or reconstruction
exceeds the available insurance proceeds.  Acceptance by a Unit Owner of a deed to a Unit shall be
deemed to be consent to the authorization to the Association to repair or reconstruct, as may in the future
be needed from time to time, up to such stated amount.  If such authorization is challenged, whether
through action taken at a meeting of the Unit Owners or otherwise, the issue of whether to repair or
reconstruct shall be put to a vote of all Unit Owners entitled to vote, and such repair or reconstruction
shall be deemed approved if all votes appurtenant to any one (1) Unit are cast in favor of such repair or
reconstruction.

(b) Damage Equal to or Greater than Five Percent (5%) of Replacement
Cost; Insurance Available.  If the cost to repair or reconstruct the damaged portion of the
Condominium is equal to or greater than five percent (5%) of the replacement cost of all improvements
constituting the Condominium, and the insurance proceeds plus five percent (5%) of the replacement
cost of all improvements constituting the Condominium are sufficient to complete such repair or
reconstruction, the damaged portion of the Condominium shall be repaired or reconstructed even if the
cost of such repair or reconstruction exceeds the available insurance proceeds.  Acceptance by a Unit
Owner of a deed to a Unit shall be deemed to be consent to the authorization of the Association to repair
or reconstruct, as may in the future be needed from time to time, up to the amount of the available
insurance proceeds plus five percent (5%) of the replacement cost of all improvements constituting the
Condominium.  If such authorization is challenged, whether through action taken at a meeting of the
Unit Owners or otherwise, the issue of whether to repair or reconstruct shall be put to a vote of all Unit
Owners entitled to vote, and such repair or reconstruction shall be deemed approved if all votes
appurtenant to any one (1) Unit are cast in favor of such repair or reconstruction.

(c) Damage Equal to or Greater than Five Percent (5%) of Replacement
Cost; Insurance Not Available.  If the cost to repair or reconstruct the damaged portion of the
Condominium is equal to or greater than five percent (5%) of the replacement cost of all improvements
constituting the Condominium and insurance proceeds plus five percent (5%) of the replacement cost
of all improvements constituting the Condominium are insufficient to complete such repair or
reconstruction, the damaged Condominium shall be repaired or reconstructed unless within thirty (30)
days of the date the Association receives repair or reconstruction estimates, the Unit Owners having



-16-

seventy-five percent (75%) or more of the votes consent in writing to not repair or reconstruct the
damaged portion of the Condominium.  Delivery of such written consent under the circumstances
described in this Section 9.01(c) shall be deemed to be consent to subject the Condominium to an action
for partition.

9.02 Plans and Specifications.  Any reconstruction or repair shall, as far as is
practicable, be made in accordance with the maps, plans, and specifications used in the original
construction of the Condominium, unless (a) the Unit Owners having at least a majority of the votes
approve of the variance from such plans and specifications; (b) the Board of Directors authorizes the
variance; and (c) in the case of reconstruction of or repair to any of the Units, the Unit Owners of the
damaged Units authorized the variance.  If a variance is authorized from the maps, plans, and
specifications contained in the Condominium Plat or this Declaration, an amendment shall be recorded
by the Association setting forth such authorized variance.

9.03 Responsibility for Repair.  In all cases after a casualty has occurred to the
Condominium (except as otherwise provided in Section 8.01, above), the Association has the
responsibility of reconstruction and repair, and immediately shall obtain reliable and detailed estimates
of the cost to rebuild or repair.

9.04 Insurance Proceeds and Construction Fund.  Insurance proceeds held by the
Association as trustee pursuant to Section 8.01, above, shall be disbursed by the Association for the
repair or reconstruction of the damaged portion of the Condominium.  Unit Owners and Mortgagees
shall not be entitled to receive payment of any portion of the insurance proceeds unless there is a surplus
of insurance proceeds after the damaged portion of the Condominium has been completely restored or
repaired as set forth in Section 9.06, below.

9.05 Assessments for Deficiencies.  If the proceeds of insurance are not sufficient to
defray the costs of reconstruction and repair by the Association, a Special Assessment shall be made
against the Unit Owners in sufficient amounts to provide funds for the payment of such costs.  Such
assessments on account of damage to the Condominium shall be in proportion to each Unit Owner's
Percentage Interest.  All assessed funds shall be held and disbursed by the Association as trustee for the
Unit Owners and Mortgagees involved.

9.06 Surplus in Construction Funds.  All insurance proceeds, condemnation awards,
and Special Assessments held by the Association as trustee for the purpose of rebuilding or
reconstructing any damage to the Condominium are referred to herein as “Construction Funds.”  It shall
be presumed that the first moneys disbursed in payment of costs of reconstruction or repair are insurance
proceeds.  If there is a balance in the Construction Funds after payment of all costs of reconstruction or
repair, such balance shall be divided among the Unit Owners according to their respective Percentage
Interests.

9.07 Partition and Sale Upon Consent.  If following damage or destruction described
in Section 9.01(c), above, the Unit Owners having seventy-five percent (75%) or more of the votes
consent to subject the Condominium to an action for partition, the Association shall record with the
office of the Register of Deeds for Walworth County, Wisconsin, a notice setting forth such facts, and
upon the recording of such notice, the Condominium shall be subject to an action for partition, in which



-17-

event the net proceeds of sale together with any amounts held by the Association as Construction Funds
shall be considered as one (1) fund and shall be divided among the Unit Owners according to the
Percentage Interest that is appurtenant to each Unit.

9.08 Mortgagees' Consent Required.  No approval, consent, or authorization given
by any Unit Owner under this Article shall be effective unless it is consented to by the Mortgagee (if
any) holding the first lien against the Unit.

ARTICLE X
CONDEMNATION

10.01 Allocation of Award.  Any damages for a taking of all or part of the
Condominium shall be awarded as follows:

(a) If all of a Unit is taken, the Unit Owner of the Unit shall be allocated the
entire award for the taking of the Unit, including any equipment, fixtures,
or improvements located therein, and for consequential damages to the
Unit or improvements located therein.

(b) If only a part of a Unit is taken, then, if the Association determines that
it shall repair or restore the Unit as described in Section 10.02. below, the
award for the taking of the Unit shall be provided to the Association as
needed to fund such repair and restoration, and the balance of the award,
plus any award for equipment, fixtures or improvements located therein
and for consequential damages to the Unit or the improvements located
therein, shall be allocated to the Unit Owner.

(c) If part of the Common Elements are taken, then, if the Association
determines that it shall repair or restore the Condominium as described
in Section 10.02, below, the award for the partial taking of the Common
Elements shall be provided to the Association as needed to fund such
repair and restoration, and the balance of the award shall be allocated to
all Unit Owners in proportion to their respective Percentage Interests.

(d) If the entire Condominium is taken, then any award for the taking of any
Unit shall be allocated to the respective Unit Owner, and any award for
the taking of the Common Elements shall be allocated to all Unit Owners
in proportion to their Percentage Interests.

10.02 Determination to Reconstruct Condominium.  Following the taking of any part
of the Condominium, then, if the Association determines that the Condominium can be restored to a
useable whole, the Condominium shall be restored or reconstructed.



-18-

10.03 Plans and Specifications for Condominium.  Any reconstruction shall, as far
as is practicable, be made in accordance with the maps, plans, and specifications used in the original
construction of the Condominium.

10.04 Responsibility for Reconstruction.  In all cases of restoration of the
Condominium following a partial taking, the responsibility for restoration and reconstruction shall be
that of the Association and it shall immediately obtain reliable and detailed estimates of the cost to
rebuild.

10.05 Assessments for Deficiencies.  If the condemnation award for the taking of the
Condominium is not sufficient to defray the costs of reconstruction by the Association, Special
Assessments shall be made against the Unit Owners in sufficient amounts to provide funds for the
payment of such costs.  Such Special Assessments shall be in proportion to each Unit Owner's respective
Percentage Interest and shall constitute a Common Expense.

10.06 Surplus in Construction Fund.  It shall be presumed that the first monies
disbursed in payment of costs of reconstruction or restoration shall be from the award for taking.  If there
is a surplus of Construction Funds after payment of all costs of construction, such balance shall be
divided among all Unit Owners in proportion to their respective Percentage Interests.

10.07 Percentage Interests Following Taking.  Following the taking of all or any part
of any Unit, the Percentage Interest appurtenant to any Unit shall be equitably adjusted to reflect the
respective relative values of the remaining Units (or portions thereof) to all Units, determined without
regard to the value of any improvements located within the Units except for those improvements that
were part of the Unit as originally constructed.  The Association shall promptly prepare and record an
amendment to the Declaration reflecting the new Percentage Interests appurtenant to the Units.

10.08 Partition and Sale Upon Consent.  If, pursuant to Section 11.02, above, the
Association determines that, following a taking of any part of the Condominium, the Condominium
cannot be restored to a usable whole, then, if the Unit Owners having seventy-five percent (75%) or
more of the votes consent to subject the Condominium to an action for partition, the Association shall
record with the office of the Register of Deeds for Walworth County, Wisconsin, a notice setting forth
such facts, and upon the recording of such notice, the Condominium shall be subject to an action for
partition, in which event the net proceeds of sale together with any amounts held by the Association as
Construction Funds shall be considered as one (1) fund and shall be divided among the Unit Owners
according to their respective Percentage Interests.

ARTICLE XI
MORTGAGEES

11.01 Notice.  Any holder of a recorded mortgage or any vendor under a recorded land
contract encumbering a Unit ("Mortgagee") that has so requested of the Association in a writing received
by the Association's agent for service of process shall be entitled to receive notice of the following
matters:



-19-

(a) The call of any meeting of the membership or the Board of Directors of
the Association to be held for the purpose of considering any proposed
amendment to this Declaration, the Articles, or the Bylaws.

(b) Any default under, any failure to comply with, or any violation of, any of
the provisions of this Declaration, the Articles, or Bylaws or any rules and
regulations by the Unit Owner whose Unit is subject to the mortgage or
land contract.

(c) Any physical damage to the Condominium in an amount exceeding five
percent (5%) of its replacement value.

11.02 Amendment of Provisions Affecting Mortgagees.  Notwithstanding the
provisions of Article XII of this Declaration, neither Section 11.01, above, nor any section of this
Declaration requiring the approval of any Mortgagee to any action shall be amended unless all
Mortgagees have given their prior written approval.

11.03 Owners of Unmortgaged Units.  Whenever any provision contained in this
Declaration requires the consent or approval (whether by vote or in writing) of a stated number or
percentage of Mortgagees to any decision, each Unit Owner of any unmortgaged Unit shall be considered
a "Mortgagee" as well as a "Unit Owner" for purposes of such provision.

11.04 Condominium Liens.  Any Mortgagee who obtains title to a Unit under the
remedies provided in the mortgage or land contract against the Unit or through foreclosure shall not be
liable for more than six (6) months of the Unit's unpaid dues and assessments accrued before the date
on which the holder acquired title.

ARTICLE XII
AMENDMENT

Except as otherwise provided by the Condominium Ownership Act, or as otherwise
provided in this Declaration, this Declaration may be amended with the written consent of not less than
the number of Unit Owners who together hold at least two-thirds (2/3) of the total voting interests held
by all Unit Owners.  No Unit Owner’s consent shall be effective without the consent of the first
mortgagee of such Unit.  So long as Declarant owns any Unit, the consent in writing of Declarant, its
successors or assigns, shall also be required.  No amendment shall alter or abrogate the rights of
Declarant as contained in this Declaration.  Copies of amendments shall be certified by the president and
secretary of the Association in a form suitable for recording.  A copy of the amendment shall be recorded
in the Office of the Register of Deeds for Walworth County, Wisconsin, and a copy of the amendment
shall also be mailed or personally delivered to each Unit Owner at its address on file with the
Association.  Until the initial conveyance of all Units, this Declaration may be amended by Declarant
alone for purposes of clarification and correction of errors and omissions.



-20-

ARTICLE XIII
REMEDIES

The Association shall have the sole right to enforce the provisions hereof or any of its
orders by proceedings at law or in equity against any person or persons violating or attempting to violate
any provision of this Declaration, either to restrain or cure the violation or to recover damages, or both,
for a period that shall include thirty (30) days from the date of the filing with the Association of a
petition by any person who shall be a Unit Owner subject to this Declaration on the date of the filing,
petitioning the Association to redress the violation or attempted violation of any of the provisions of this
Declaration by any other persons.  Liability among multiple owners of a Unit shall be joint and several.
Nothing herein shall be deemed to limit the rights of the City of Lake Geneva or the County of Walworth
to enforce any zoning codes, ordinances, regulations, or other requirements that may be identical or
similar to the requirements of this Declaration.  Such period of thirty (30) days shall be considered to
be a period for the consideration of the petition by the Association and if the Association denies or fails
to act upon the petition to the satisfaction of the petitioner within the thirty (30) day period, thereafter
petitioner shall have the right to enforce the provisions hereof (except for the collection of charges and
assessments under Article VI, above), to the extent that he or she shall so have petitioned, by
proceedings at law or in equity against any person or persons violating or attempting to violate the
provisions of this Declaration, either to restrain the violation or to recover damages, or both; provided,
however, that any such person shall be a Unit Owner and commence such proceedings against such other
person or persons within a period of sixty (60) days from (i) the date of the Association’s denial of such
petition, or (ii) the passage of the aforementioned thirty (30) day period for consideration of the petition
by the Association.  

The Association or the petitioning Unit Owner(s), as the case may be, shall have the right
to recover court costs and reasonable attorney fees in any successful action brought against another Unit
Owner to enforce, or recover damages for a violation of, this Declaration.  Any damages collected by
the Association shall be distributed, first, to pay for all costs of enforcement, and, secondly, to the
owners of the Units damaged by the violation pro rata. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if any Unit Owner
fails to comply with the terms and conditions of this Declaration, and such failure continues beyond any
applicable cure period, the Association shall have the right to cure on behalf of the Unit Owner and such
Unit Owner shall promptly reimburse the Association for the cost thereof within ten (10) days after
receipt of written demand therefor.  Alternatively, the Association may, at the option of the Association,
levy such amounts against the Unit as a Special Assessment under Article VI, above.  In addition to all
other remedies available to the Association, the Association shall have the right to collect from any Unit
Owner who is in violation beyond any applicable cure period of this Declaration, the Articles, or Bylaws,
or any Rules and Regulations promulgated hereunder, a fine for each day such violation continues in
such amount as is from time to time set forth in the Bylaws or Rules and Regulations.

ARTICLE XIV
GENERAL

14.01 Utility Easements.  Declarant hereby reserves for the Association acting by and
in the discretion of its Board of Directors, the rights to grant to the City of Lake Geneva and County of
Walworth or public or semi-public utility companies, easements and rights-of-way for the erection,



-21-

construction, and maintenance of all poles, wires, pipes, and conduits for the transmission of electricity,
gas, water, telephone, and for other purposes, for sewers, stormwater drains, gas mains, water pipes and
mains, and similar services and for performing any public or quasi-public utility function that the Board
of Directors may deem fit and proper for the improvement and benefit of the Condominium.  Such
easements and rights-of-way shall be confined, so far as possible in underground pipes or other conduits,
with the necessary rights of ingress and egress and with the rights to do whatever may be necessary to
carry out the purposes for which the easement is created.

14.02 Right of Entry.  By acceptance of a Condominium Deed, each Unit Owner shall
have granted a right of entry and access to its Unit to the Association to correct any condition originating
in its Unit and threatening another Unit or the Common Elements, to install, alter, or repair mechanical
or electrical services or other Common Elements in its Unit or elsewhere in the Condominium, and to
maintain and repair Common Elements and other areas as described in Section 6.04, above. Such entry
shall be made with prior notice to the Unit Owners, and shall be scheduled for a time reasonably
convenient to the Unit Owners, except in the case of an emergency when injury or property damage will
result in delayed entry.  Such entry shall be done with as little inconvenience to the Unit Owners as
practical, and any damage caused thereby shall be repaired by the Association and treated as a Common
Expense, except as allocable to an individual Unit or Units for cause in the discretion of the Board of
Directors.

14.03 Notices.  All notices and other documents required to be given by this Declaration
or by the Bylaws of the Association shall be sufficient if given to one (1) registered owner of a Unit
regardless of the number of owners who have an interest therein.  Notices and other documents to be
served on Declarant shall be given to the agent for service of process specified in Section 14.06, below.
All owners shall provide the secretary of the Association with an address for the mailing or service of
any notice or other documents and the secretary shall be deemed to have discharged his or her duty with
respect to the giving of notice by mailing it or having it delivered personally to such address as is on file
with him or her.

14.04 Severability.  The provisions hereof shall be deemed independent and severable,
and the invalidity or partial invalidity or unenforceability of any one (1)  provision or portion thereof
shall not affect the validity or unenforceability of the remaining portion of said provision or of any other
provision hereof.

14.05 Access to Condominium by Declarant and Owners of Unbuilt Units.  During
any period in which (a) Declarant is constructing any Building or other improvements on the Property;
(b) all Unit Owners of Units within a Building are constructing such Building and Limited Common
Elements appurtenant to such units; or (c) Declarant is replacing or repairing any Common Elements or
Limited Common Elements, then Declarant and such Unit Owners, as the case may be, and their
respective contractors, subcontractors, agents, and employees, shall have an easement for access to all
parts of the Condominium as may be required in connection with the work.

14.06 Resident Agent. The name and address of the resident agent under Wis. Stat.
§ 703.23 is Lakes Property Management, L.L.C., 700 Veterans Parkway, Suite 204, Lake Geneva, WI
53147.  The resident agent may be changed by the Association in any manner permitted by law.



-22-

14.07 Assignment of Declarant's Rights. The rights, powers, and obligations of the
party named as “Declarant”, as granted by this Declaration, may be assigned pursuant to Wis. Stat.
§703.09(4), by a written, recorded amendment to any other party who assumes such rights, powers, and
obligations, provided that such other party also assumes the obligations imposed on declarants by Wis.
Stat. ch. 703.  Upon the recording of any such amendment, such assignee shall become “Declarant”
under this Declaration and shall succeed to all such rights, powers, and obligations.  Such amendment
need be signed only by the assignor and assignee named therein.

14.08 Conflicts.  If a conflict exists among any provisions of this Declaration, the
Articles, the Bylaws, and the Rules and Regulations, the Declaration shall prevail over the Articles,
Bylaws, and Rules and Regulations; the Articles shall prevail over the Bylaws and the Rules and
Regulations; and the Bylaws shall prevail over the Rules and Regulations.

14.09 Disclosure Regarding Warranties.  Declarant shall assign to the Association
upon substantial completion of each phase of construction all warranties held by Declarant and covering
any construction of the Common Elements.  No warranties or representations, express or implied,
including, but not limited to, the implied warranty of fitness for a particular purpose and merchantability,
are made by Declarant to any Unit Owner or other person or entity regarding the past or future
performance or quality of the Common Elements, including the Limited Common Elements.  Any
implied warranty of workmanlike performance and that the Building or other Common Elements,
including the Limited Common Elements, are or will be reasonably adequate for use and occupancy,
created by Wis. Stat. § 706.10(7), which statutory section creates the above-stated implied warranties,
for the conveyance of a newly constructed home or condominium, is hereby expressly disclaimed and
excluded.  Any other implied warranties created by common law, including, without limitation,
Declarant's duty to perform all work in a good and sufficient workmanlike manner, are also disclaimed
and excluded.  Any claims by the Association against a contractor to recover damages resulting from
construction defects in any of the Common Elements or Limited Common Elements shall be subject to
the provisions of Wis. Stat. § 895.07(8).

(Signature page follows)



-23-

IN  WITNESS  WHEREOF,  Declarant has executed this Declaration on the date first
written above.

DECLARANT:

McMURR I, LLC, an Illinois limited liability company

By:
Murray S. Peretz, Its Manager

STATE OF ILLINOIS )
) ss.

COUNTY OF ___________ )

Personally came before me this  day of _________________, 2017, the above-
named Murray S. Peretz, the manager of McMurr I, LLC, an Illinois limited liability company, who
acknowledged the foregoing document for the purposes recited therein on behalf of said company. 

Notary Public, _________ County, Illinois
My Commission Expires:



-24-

CONSENT OF MORTGAGEE

The undersigned, being the holder of a mortgage executed by _____ to the undersigned
recorded in the Office of the Register of Deeds for _____ County, Wisconsin, on ______________, as
Document No. ____________, in Volume _____ of Records, on Page _____, does hereby consent to all
of the terms and conditions of the foregoing Declaration, and agrees that its interest in the Property shall
be subject in all respects to the terms thereof.

Dated this _____ day of ____________, 200__.

MORTGAGEE:

By:

STATE OF WISCONSIN )
) ss.

COUNTY OF ___________ )

Personally came before me this  day of _________________, 200___, the above-
named _________________, the _____ of _________, a Wisconsin _____, who acknowledged the
foregoing document for the purposes recited therein on behalf of said __________.

Notary Public, _________ County, Wisconsin
My Commission Expires:

This instrument was drafted by:

James P. Howe, Esq.
GODFREY, LEIBSLE, BLACKBOURN &
  HOWARTH, S.C.
354 Seymour Court
Elkhorn, Wisconsin  53121
Telephone: (262) 723-3220
Facsimile: (262) 723-5121
Email: jhowe@godfreylaw.com
T:\M\McMurr, LLC\Prairie Wind\2017 PIP and plat\off copy\condo\dclrn of condo-2.wpd

mailto:jhowe@godfreylaw.com


EXHIBIT A

LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPERTY

DECLARED AREA PARCEL A

LANDS LOCATED IN PART OF LOT 1 OF CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP NO. 3663, RECORDED
IN VOLUME 22 ON PAGE 10 AS DOCUMENT NO. 593854; LOCATED IN PART OF THE
NORTHWEST 1/4, SOUTHWEST 1/4, AND SOUTHEAST 1/4 OF THE SOUTHWEST 1/4 OF
SECTION 32, TOWN 2 NORTH, RANGE 18 EAST, CITY OF LAKE GENEVA, WALWORTH
COUNTY, WISCONSIN, MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:  
COMMENCING AT THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID LOT 1 OF C.S.M. 3663 AT THE
NORTHERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY OF TOWN LINE ROAD; THENCE S 89DEG 54MIN 50SEC W,
198.99 FEET ALONG THE SAID NORTHERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE TO AN IRON PIPE
STAKE; THENCE CONTINUE, S 00DEG 05MIN 10SEC E, 15.01 FEET; THENCE CONTINUE, S
89DEG 54MIN 50SEC W, 218.94 FEET TO THE EAST LINE OF CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP NO.
1974 (C.S.M. 1974); THENCE ALONG SAID EAST LINE, N 00DEG 05MIN 10SEC W, 318.00 FEET
TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF SAID C.S.M. 1974 AND THE POINT OF BEGINNING;
THENCE S 89DEG 54MIN 50 SEC W, 243.35 FEET TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF SAID
C.S.M. 1974; THENCE N 00DEG 05MIN 10SEC W, 122.25 FEET; THENCE N 89DEG 54MIN
50SEC E, 70.00 FEET; THENCE N 44DEG 54MIN 50SEC E, 137.95 FEET; THENCE S 56DEG
07MIN 23SEC E, 37.21 FEET; THENCE 66.91 FEET ALONG THE ARC OF A CURVE TO THE
RIGHT HAVING A RADIUS OF 119.00 FEET AND A CHORD WHICH BEARS S 40DEG 00MIN
58SEC E, 66.03 FEET; THENCE S 23DEG 54MIN 32SEC E, 17.37 FEET; THENCE 125.23 FEET
ALONG THE ARC OF A CURVE TO THE RIGHT HAVING A RADIUS OF 244.00 FEET AND A
CHORD WHICH BEARS S 09DEG 12MIN 19SEC E, 123.86 FEET; THENCE S 05DEG 29MIN
54SEC W, 10.23 FEET; THENCE S 89DEG 54MIN 50SEC W, 23.09 FEET TO THE POINT OF
BEGINNING.  CONTAINING 42,313 SQUARE FEET (0.97 ACRES) OF LAND, MORE OR LESS.

DECLARED AREA PARCEL B

LANDS LOCATED IN PART OF LOT 1 OF CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP NO. 3663, RECORDED
IN VOLUME 22 ON PAGE 10 AS DOCUMENT NO. 593854; LOCATED IN PART OF THE
NORTHWEST 1/4, SOUTHWEST 1/4, AND SOUTHEAST 1/4 OF THE SOUTHWEST 1/4 OF
SECTION 32, TOWN 2 NORTH, RANGE 18 EAST, CITY OF LAKE GENEVA, WALWORTH
COUNTY, WISCONSIN, MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:  
BEGINNING AT THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID LOT 1 OF C.S.M. 3663 AT THE
NORTHERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY OF TOWN LINE ROAD; THENCE S 89DEG 54MIN 50SEC W,
198.99 FEET ALONG THE SAID NORTHERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE TO AN IRON PIPE
STAKE; THENCE CONTINUE, S 00DEG 05MIN 10SEC E, 15.01 FEET; THENCE CONTINUE, S
89DEG 54MIN 50SEC W, 171.20 FEET; THENCE N 00DEG 05MIN 10SEC W, 251.55 FEET;
THENCE N 05DEG 29MIN 54SEC E, 73.97 FEET; THENCE 141.14 FEET ALONG THE ARC OF
A CURVE TO THE LEFT HAVING A RADIUS OF 275.00 FEET AND A CHORD WHICH BEARS
N 09DEG 12MIN 19SEC W, 139.60 FEET; THENCE N 23DEG 54MIN 32SEC W, 17.37 FEET;
THENCE 84.34 FEET ALONG THE ARC OF A CURVE TO THE LEFT HAVING A RADIUS OF
150.00 FEET AND A CHORD WHICH BEARS N 40SEC 00MIN 58SEC W, 83.23 FEET; THENCE
N 56DEG 07MIN 23SEC W, 54.50 FEET; THENCE 57.79 FEET ALONG THE ARC OF A CURVE



TO THE RIGHT HAVING A RADIUS OF 300.00 FEET AND A CHORD WHICH BEARS N 50DEG
36MIN 17SEC W, 57.70 FEET; THENCE N 45DEG 05MIN 10SEC W, 23.42 FEET; THENCE N
38DEG 39MIN 48SEC E, 178.55 FEET TO THE NORTHEASTERLY LINE OF SAID C.S.M. 3663;
THENCE ALONG SAID NORTHEASTERLY LINE, S 48DEG 38MIN 27SEC E, 280.59 FEET;
THENCE CONTINUE, S 29DEG 03MIN 47SEC E, 511.18 FEET; THENCE CONTINUE, S 08DEG
33MIN 06SEC W, 119.09 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. CONTAINING 203,083 SQUARE
FEET (4.66 ACRES) OF LAND, MORE OR LESS.

Tax Key No. ZPRW 00054A

AND
RIGHT OF ACCESS ACROSS ROADWAYS AND THE RIGHT TO CONNECT TO AND/OR USE THE SANITARY AND

STORM WATER SEWER SYSTEMS, STREET LIGHTING SYSTEM, DOMESTIC WATER SYSTEM, FIRE PROTECTION

SYSTEM AND OTHER NECESSARY SYSTEMS AS CONTAINED IN PARAGRAPH 5.05(G) OF THE DECLARATION

OF CONDOMINIUM OWNERSHIP AND OF EASEMENTS, RESTRICTIONS, COVENANTS AND PRAIRIE WIND

TOWNHOMES CONDOMINIUM RECORDED ON OCTOBER 28, 2004 AS DOCUMENT NO. 621208, AND

AMENDED BY FIRST AMENDMENT TO CONDOMINIUM DECLARATION RECORDED ON OCTOBER 20, 2005,
AS DOCUMENT NO. 657327, AND AMENDED BY SECOND AMENDMENT TO CONDOMINIUM DECLARATION

RECORDED ON AUGUST 14, 2006, AS DOCUMENT NO. 685123, AND AMENDED BY THIRD AMENDMENT TO

CONDOMINIUM DECLARATION OF PRAIRIE WIND TOWNHOMES CONDOMINIUM RECORDED JUNE 24, 2013
AS DOCUMENT NO. 865669, AND AMENDED BY FOURTH AMENDMENT TO CONDOMINIUM DECLARATION

OF PRAIRIE WIND TOWNHOMES CONDOMINIUM RECORDED ON JUNE 25,2014 AS DOCUMENT NO. 887093.
(End of legal description.)

Address: Prairie Lane, Lake Geneva, WI 



EXHIBIT B

CONDOMINIUM PLAT

See attached.



 1 

STAFF REPORT 
To Lake Geneva Plan Commission 
Meeting Date: September 18, 2017 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Applicant:      
Mau & Associates LLC.    Review of the Step 2 Concept Plan 

Request: 

400 Security Boulevard    of the proposed Planned Development 
Green Bay WI 54313        1150 S. Wells Street 
 
Represented by: 
Steve Bieda   Raze existing hotel building and construct 
Owner: Himansu Dhyani   four 8 – unit buildings with two accessory  
   4 – Stall garage accessory buildings. 
 

The applicant is submitting a request for the initial Concept Plan (step 2) review of the Planned 
Development.  

Description: 

Planned Developments are intended to provide more incentives for infill development and 
redevelopment in areas of the community which are experiencing a lack of significant reinvestment. 
They are also intended to provide for flexible development standards to accommodate unique sites, 
mixtures of land uses, or development configurations. This proposed development would create Four – 8 
unit apartment dwelling units in addition having two additional enclosed 4 – Stall garage units. 

The proposed request to allocate design components under a Planned Development would allow for the 
flexibilities should they be needed that maybe essential to provide a quality development within the 
Planed Business zoning whereas the plans submitted meets the Multi-Family – 8 standards related to 
bulk, landscaping, & parking requirements.   

Wisconsin law requires all Zoning Map Amendments be consistent with the Comprehensive Plan, and 
particularly with the Future Land Use Map. This map recommends the Neighborhood Mixed Use as a 
future land use category for the subject property, including several properties that already are Multi-
Family – 8. 

Consistency with the Comprehensive Plan: 

 
The category identified on the map maybe mislabeled for the reasons across the street is identified as 
“multi-family residential” (which it is multi-family) and have been prior to the adoption of the 
Comprehensive Plan. Additionally the properties north and south of this proposed development have 
been Multi-Family Residential buildings for many years as identified on the current zoning map, and the 
future land use map has the proposed use as Neighborhood Mixed Use in the Comprehensive Plan which 
does not permit MR-8 land use. These inconsistencies typically arise and are identified when requests 
occur such as these with older properties when they submit for application on land use changes. 
 
 
 

Agenda Item: 10 



 2 

All Planned Developments must explicitly identify any flexibilities being requested from base zoning 
standards in the most comparable regular zoning district. In this instance, the Multi-Family zoning 
district provides that comparison zoning district.  

Relation to Base Zoning Standards: 

1. This proposal would require the zoning change request from the current Planned Business (PB) 
to Multi-Family - 8 (MR-8) to allow for the multi-family land use. 

2. All other zoning requirements are met, or in most cases met with “room to spare”. 

 

 
Action by the Plan Commission:  

At the Plan Commission meeting, the Applicant shall engage in an informal discussion with the Plan 
Commission regarding the conceptual PD. Appropriate topics for discussion may include any of the 
information provided in the PD Concept Plan Submittal Packet, or other items as determined by the Plan 
Commission.  
 
Points of discussion and conclusions reached in this stage of the process shall in no way be binding upon 
Applicant or the City, but should be considered as informal, non-binding basis for proceeding to the next 
step. The preferred procedure is for one or more iterations of Plan Commission review of the Concept 
Plan to occur prior to introduction of the formal rezoning petition which accompanies GDP application. 
 

If the Plan Commission has a favorable reaction to the proposed Concept Plan (Step 2) for the proposal 
as presented, staff would recommend giving guidance to the applicant to move forward within the 
guidelines of the General Development Plan (GDP) Step 3.   

Staff Review Comments: 

 

1. Staff recommends that the Plan Commission recommend approval of the Concept Plan Step 2 as 
submitted, with the understandings the applicant shall apply to rezone the property to           
Multi-Family Residential – 8 (MR-8). 

Staff Recommendation on the Concept Plan: 

2. Combine all tax parcels at this location into one tax parcel. 

        




























	09 18 2017 Agenda
	08 21 2017 Planning Commission Minutes
	6. 727 Geneva St - Downtown Design
	7. 830 Clover Street - CUP
	8. 698 S Lake Shore Drive - CUP
	9.a. Prairie Wind Condominimum Plat
	9.b. Prairie Wind Condominimum PIP
	10. 1150 S Wells St PD



